

Semi-Riemannian manifolds with linear differential conditions on the curvature

José M. M. Senovilla^{1,2}

Received: 1 September 2023 / Revised: 22 April 2024 / Accepted: 23 April 2024 © The Author(s) 2024

Abstract

Semi-Riemannian manifolds that satisfy (homogeneous) linear differential conditions of arbitrary order *r* on the curvature are analyzed. They include, in particular, the spaces with (*rth*-order) recurrent curvature, (*rth*-order) symmetric spaces, as well as entire new families of semi-Riemannian manifolds rarely, or never, considered before in the literature—such as the spaces whose derivative of the Riemann tensor field is recurrent, among many others. Definite proof that all types of such spaces do exist is provided by exhibiting explicit examples of all possibilities in all signatures, *except in the Riemannian case with a positive definite metric*. Several techniques of independent interest are collected and presented. Of special relevance is the case of Lorentzian manifolds, due to its connection to the physics of the gravitational field. This connection is discussed with particular emphasis on Gauss–Bonnet gravity and in relation with Penrose limits. Many new lines of research open up and a handful of conjectures, based on the results found hitherto, is put forward.

Keywords nth-Order symmetric spaces $\cdot nth$ -Order recurrent spaces \cdot Curvature conditions \cdot Exact solutions of Einstein equations \cdot Symmetric spaces \cdot Plane waves

Mathematics Subject Classification $~53B30\cdot 53B50\cdot 58J60\cdot 53C21\cdot 58J70$

Contents

1	Introduction
	1.1 Notation and terminology
2	\mathcal{KS}_n spaces: definition and properties
	2.1 Non-decomposability
	2.2 Properties of $t^{(r)}$

☑ José M. M. Senovilla josemm.senovilla@ehu.eus

² EHU Quantum Center, Universidad del País Vasco UPV/EHU, Bilbao, Spain

¹ Departamento de Física, Facultad de Ciencia y Tecnología, Universidad del País Vasco UPV/EHU, Apartado 644, 48080 Bilbao, Spain

2.3 An interesting property
2.4 Classification
2.4.1 Type I
2.4.2 Type II
3 A model family: the class \mathcal{KS}_n is not empty
4 Particular cases of special relevance
5 Relevance in physics
6 Discussion: open questions and conjectures
Appendices
A Generic points
B Homothetic vector fields that are gradients
C Semi-Riemannian manifolds with a tensor field T such that $\nabla^r T = 0$
References

1 Introduction

The investigation of a type of tensor fields in Lorentzian manifolds named "superenergy tensors" [48] led to the following very simple question: if R is the curvature tensor, which Lorentzian manifolds satisfy

$$\nabla^2 R = 0?$$

Traditional results in Riemannian geometry [38, 58] stated that $\nabla^2 R = 0$ implied local symmetry: $\nabla R = 0$, and this seems to be the reason why a higher-order condition such as $\nabla^2 R = 0$, or others that one can imagine, had not been explored before in non-Riemannian possibilities. However, such a "negative" result does not hold in the general semi-Riemannian case.

In the Lorentzian case, the main ideas were presented in [49], where the fundamental result of the existence of a parallel null vector field was proven, which led to a full resolution of the problem first in four dimensions [5], and then in the general case in [4, 6, 7] and, independently, in [1].

These achievements lead, somehow naturally, to the study of semi-Riemannian manifolds that satisfy a homogeneous linear differential condition on the curvature:

$$\nabla^r R + t^{(1)} \otimes \nabla^{r-1} R + t^{(2)} \otimes \nabla^{r-2} R + \dots + t^{(r-1)} \otimes \nabla R + t^{(r)} \otimes R = 0$$
(1)

for some *m*-covariant tensor fields $t^{(m)}$, $m \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$.

This family of manifolds was presented in two invited talks [50, 51] at meetings on Lorentzian geometry and General Relativity. After this, a very important paper from 1985 by Kaigorodov [32] came to my knowledge where the semi-Riemannian manifolds satisfying (1) where studied in some detail—but not so those with $\nabla^2 R = 0$. Curiously enough, the results from [32] and [50, 51] were mostly complementary or independent, and the techniques used different. The purpose of this paper is to publish the main results, the basic ideas and some important open questions combining partly the results in [32] with those in [50, 51] which are published herein for the first time. I firmly believe that this line of research will be helpful and interesting in the areas of semi-Riemannian geometry and in the physics of the gravitational field. This paper is structured as follows: in Sect. 2 the family of semi-Riemannian manifolds satisfying (1) is introduced, their main properties listed and a classification presented and analyzed. Section 3 presents a model family of explicit semi-Riemannian manifolds (Theorem 5) satisfying (1) for all possible r and for all signatures *except* the positive-definite one—because they possess a parallel lightlike vector field. In Sect. 4 all known results for particular values of r and of the tensor fields $t^{(m)}$ in (1) are collected. Section 5 is devoted to a brief analysis of the physical relevance of the Lorentzian manifolds satisfying (1), in particular their connection with the Penrose limits [42] and its possible relevance in higher dimensional theories such as Gauss– Bonnet gravity [26] or those derived from string theory. Finally, Sect. 6 contains a discussion with the open lines of research and presents a set of conjectures that seem to be valid taking all the known results into account.

This is complemented with three appendices, with contents of independent interest, collecting some interesting and classical techniques that are helpful in proving the main results, such as the existence of "generic points", the use of particular homothetic vector fields that are gradients and arise naturally in this context, and the general results concerning when a tensor field T with vanishing 2nd-order covariant derivative is actually parallel.

Before that, the next subsection fixes the notation and the terminology used throughout. This is basically standard, and thus it can be skipped in a first reading, or if the reader is familiar with the subject. Analogously, it may be advisable to only look at the Appendices when needed upon reading the main text.

1.1 Notation and terminology

Let (M, g) be an *n*-dimensional semi-Riemannian manifold of arbitrary signature, ∇ its Levi-Civita connection and $R(X, Y)Z = \nabla_X \nabla_Y Z - \nabla_Y \nabla_X Z - \nabla_{[X,Y]} Z$ its curvature tensor field. The signature is Riemannian if the metric is positive definite, and is called Lorentzian if the signature is (1, n - 1) –or (n - 1, 1). The use of abstract index notation will be extremely convenient in many cases in this work, but it will not refer to the use of any particular basis or coordinate choice—under explicitly stated on the contrary. Thus, the Riemann tensor will be denoted by *R* or, in abstract index form, by $R^{\alpha}_{\beta\lambda\mu}$ such that

$$(\nabla_{\lambda}\nabla_{\mu} - \nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\lambda})X^{\alpha} = R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\lambda\mu}X^{\beta}.$$

This is sometimes called the Ricci identity. *Ric* will denote the corresponding Ricci tensor or, in abstract index notation $R_{\alpha\beta} := R^{\rho}_{\alpha\rho\beta}$ while *S* denotes the scalar curvature. When using indices the metric is $g_{\alpha\beta}$ and its contravariant version (or its inverse) is $g^{\alpha\beta}$. In index notation any vector field *X* carries a contravariant index X^{α} , and its metrically equivalent one-form will be denoted by *X* or, in abstract indices, by $X_{\alpha} := g_{\alpha\beta}X^{\beta}$. Thus, the covariant Riemann tensor is $R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = g_{\alpha\rho}R^{\rho}_{\beta\lambda\mu}$. Here and throughout the Einstein summation convention will be used. When using index notation, round brackets will mean symmetrization in the enclosed indices, and square brackets anti-symmetrization.

Within the class of metrics that satisfy (1) there are obvious classic examples for some particular values of the tensor fields $t^{(m)}$, m = 1, ..., r which already have their nomenclature. Outstanding examples are the first order conditions (r = 1) corresponding to *recurrent* spaces if $t^{(1)} \neq 0$, and to *locally symmetric* manifolds if $t^{(1)} = 0$. More generally, *rth*-order recurrent–or simply *r*-recurrent– spaces are those with $t^{(1)} = \cdots = t^{(r-1)} = 0$ and $t^{(r)} \neq 0$, while *rth*-order symmetric–or simple *r*-symmetric– spaces are defined by $t^{(m)} = 0$ for all $m \in \{1, ..., r\}$.

Recall that a semi-Riemannian manifold is called reducible when the holonomy group leaves a non-trivial subspace of each tangent space invariant; further, it is non-degenerately reducible if it leaves a non-degenerate subspace-that is, such that the restriction of the metric is non-degenerate-invariant. In the latter case the manifold is (locally) *decomposable* in the sense that (M, g) is a direct product of two semi-Riemannian manifolds (M_1, g_1) and (M_2, g_2) with $M = M_1 \times M_2$ and $g = g_1 \oplus g_2$. The following terminology will be used:

Definition 1 (*rth*-symmetric extensions) An *r*-symmetric extension of a semi-Riemannian manifold (M, g) is a direct product manifold that is decomposable into (M, g) and a *rth*-order symmetric semi-Riemannian manifold $(\overline{M}, g^{\overline{M}})$.

If r = 0, 0-symmetric extensions will be simply called flat extensions of the manifold, meaning that $(\overline{M}, g^{\overline{M}})$ is a flat semi-Riemannian manifold, and if r = 1, 1*st*-order symmetric extensions will be referred to as locally symmetric extensions.

It is important to point out that there exist semi-Riemannian manifolds characterized by conditions *non-linear* on the curvature. The most relevant such condition is that of semi-symmetry [17, 56, 57], which was actually introduced due to the absence of *r*-symmetric and *r*-recurrent spaces in Riemannian geometry, see Sect. 4. This is generalized to higher non-linearities as follows [32]

Definition 2 ($\frac{1}{2p}$ -symmetric semi-Riemannian manifolds) A semi-Riemannian manifold (*M*, *g*) is called $\frac{1}{2p}$ -symmetric with $p \in \mathbb{N}$ if it satisfies the condition

$$\nabla_{[\lambda_1} \nabla_{\lambda_2]} \nabla_{[\lambda_3} \nabla_{\lambda_4]} \dots \nabla_{[\lambda_{2p-1}} \nabla_{\lambda_{2p}]} R^{\alpha} {}_{\beta \lambda \mu} = 0.$$

In particular, if p = 1 it is called a *semi-symmetric space* and the condition becomes $R(X, Y) \cdot R = 0$, which is equivalent to $\nabla_{[\lambda} \nabla_{\mu]} R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma\delta} = 0$.

Here $R(X, Y) \cdot R = 0$ is a shorthand [56] for the following expression in abstract indices

$$R^{\rho}{}_{\alpha\lambda\mu}R_{\rho\beta\gamma\delta} + R^{\rho}{}_{\beta\lambda\mu}R_{\alpha\rho\gamma\delta} + R^{\rho}{}_{\gamma\lambda\mu}R_{\alpha\beta\rho\delta} + R^{\rho}{}_{\delta\lambda\mu}R_{\alpha\beta\gamma\rho} = 0.$$
(2)

2 \mathcal{KS}_n spaces: definition and properties

The main subject of this paper is the following set of semi-Riemannian manifolds:

Definition 3 (\mathcal{KS}_n spaces. [30, 32, 50, 51]) An *n*-dimensional semi-Riemannian manifold (M, g) satisfies a linear differential condition of order $r \in \mathbb{N}$ on the curvature tensor *R* associated to a fixed tensor field $B \in T^1_{r+3}(M)$ if there exist *r* covariant tensor fields $t^{(m)} \in T^0_m(M)$ with m = 1, ..., r, such that

$$\nabla^r R + t^{(1)} \otimes \nabla^{r-1} R + t^{(2)} \otimes \nabla^{r-2} R + \ldots + t^{(r-1)} \otimes \nabla R + t^{(r)} \otimes R = B.$$
(3)

If B = 0, then (M, g), called \mathcal{KS}_n , satisfies the *homogeneous* linear differential condition of order r on the curvature (1).

Some research has been done in the non-homogeneous case for particular manifolds (see for example [53, 54]). In Sect. 3 some explicit examples with $B \neq 0$ will also be given. Nevertheless, this work will be dealt mainly with the homogeneous case, Eq.(1), which was first studied by Kaigorodov [30–32] and much later re-discovered in [50, 51].

Despite the linearity of the condition (1) on R, there is no superposition principle in the solutions of these equations in the sense that, fixed M, the linear combinations of curvature tensors satisfying (1) associated to different metrics on M will not be another solution in general, since both R and ∇ depend also on the chosen metric.

Making some abuse of notation and removing the superscript of the tensor fields $t^{(m)}$ in Eq. (1)—since they can be identified by their number of subindices in abstract index form—, the equation can be written in the abstract index form as:

$$\nabla_{\lambda_1} \dots \nabla_{\lambda_r} R^{\alpha} {}_{\beta\mu\nu} + t_{\lambda_1} \nabla_{\lambda_2} \dots \nabla_{\lambda_r} R^{\alpha} {}_{\beta\mu\nu} + \dots + t_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_{r-1}} \nabla_{\lambda_r} R^{\alpha} {}_{\beta\mu\nu} + t_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_r} R^{\alpha} {}_{\beta\mu\nu} = 0.$$

$$\tag{4}$$

Observe that, written in this form, this definition could be generalized by permuting the subscripts to obtain different linear differential conditions on the curvature, which would lead to a much larger class of manifolds.

It is obvious that if (1) holds, then linear differential relations with exactly the same structure, and the same set of tensors $t^{(m)}$, are satisfied by the Ricci tensor and the scalar curvature:

$$\nabla^{r}Ric + t^{(1)} \otimes \nabla^{r-1}Ric + t^{(2)} \otimes \nabla^{r-2}Ric + \dots + t^{(r-1)} \otimes \nabla Ric + t^{(r)}$$

$$\otimes Ric = 0.$$
 (5)

$$\nabla^r S + t^{(1)} \otimes \nabla^{r-1} S + t^{(2)} \otimes \nabla^{r-2} S + \dots + t^{(r-1)} \otimes \nabla S + t^{(r)} \otimes S = 0.$$
 (6)

or with indices

$$\nabla_{\lambda_1} \dots \nabla_{\lambda_r} R_{\beta\nu} + t_{\lambda_1} \nabla_{\lambda_2} \dots \nabla_{\lambda_r} R_{\beta\nu} + \dots + t_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_{r-1}} \nabla_{\lambda_r} R_{\beta\nu} + t_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_r} R_{\beta\nu} = 0,$$

$$\nabla_{\lambda_1} \dots \nabla_{\lambda_r} S + t_{\lambda_1} \nabla_{\lambda_2} \dots \nabla_{\lambda_r} S + \dots + t_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_{r-1}} \nabla_{\lambda_r} S + t_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_r} S = 0.$$

Now, let *C* denote the Weyl tensor of (M, g). Using (1), (5) and (6) it is easily verified that the Weyl tensor satisfies the same relation too:

$$\nabla^r C + t^{(1)} \otimes \nabla^{r-1} C + t^{(2)} \otimes \nabla^{r-2} C + \dots + t^{(r-1)} \otimes \nabla C + t^{(r)} \otimes C = 0.$$

This opens the door to define semi-Riemannian manifolds that comply just with this relation for C, or with (5), but not for the full R.

If (1) holds, by computing the *rth*-order derivative along any geodesic on (M, g) of R (or C, Ric or S) and using (1) (or (7), (5) or (6)) the following result is derived:

Lemma 1 On a \mathcal{KS}_n semi-Riemannian manifold (M, g):

- 1. *if* R and its covariant derivatives up to order (r 1) vanish at a given point $x \in M$, then the curvature vanishes everywhere, that is, (M, g) is flat.
- 2. *if the Weyl tensor* C *and its covariant derivatives up to order* (r 1) *vanish at a given point* $x \in M$, *then* C *vanishes everywhere and* (M, g) *is conformally flat.*
- 3. *if* Ric and its covariant derivatives up to order (r 1) vanish at a given point $x \in M$, then the Ricci tensor vanishes everywhere, that is, (M, g) is Ricci-flat.
- 4. *if* S and *its covariant derivatives up to order* (r-1) *vanish at a given point* $x \in M$, *then the scalar curvature vanishes everywhere.*

Notice that if (M, g) satisfies Eq. (1) for some r then, by taking successive covariant derivatives there, it will also satisfy the same type of equation for all s > r with some properly defined new covariant tensor fields $\overline{t}^{(m)}$ with $m = 1, \ldots, s$. Hence, the following definition is necessary:

Definition 4 A \mathcal{KS}_n semi-Riemannian manifold is said to be *proper of order r* if *r* is the minimum value for which the manifold satisfies a condition of type (1).

2.1 Non-decomposability

In the theory of semi-Riemannian manifolds (M, g) the question of decomposability, or non-degenerate reducibility, is of paramount importance (see [38, 43] for the Riemannian case and [64] for the semi-Riemannian case). For \mathcal{KS}_n semi-Riemannian manifolds, and using Definition 1, the following powerful theorem, which is a broad generalization of Theorem 2.1 in [63], can be proven:

Theorem 1 [50, 51] If (M, g) is a non-flat proper order $r \ \mathcal{KS}_n$ semi-Riemannian manifold, then either it is rth-symmetric, or it is not decomposable except for kth-symmetric extensions with $k \leq r$.

Furthermore, if \overline{m} is the greatest interger in $\{1, \ldots, r\}$ such that $t^{(\overline{m})} \neq 0$, then only sth-symmetric extensions are allowed, for $s \leq r - \overline{m}$.

Proof Suppose that (M, g) is reducible, so that there exist two semi-Riemannian manifolds $(M_1, g_1), (M_2, g_2)$ such that $M = M_1 \times M_2$ and $g = g_1 \oplus g_2$. Let us prove that then (M, g) is a *kth*-symmetric extension of (M_1, g_1) or of (M_2, g_2) . Let A, B, C, \ldots be the indices for (M_1, g_1) and a, b, c, \ldots the indices for (M_2, g_2) , then not only the metric but also the covariant derivative ∇ and the curvature tensor R decompose:

$$g = g_{AB}dx^{A}dx^{B} + g_{ab}dx^{a}dx^{b},$$

$$\nabla = \nabla^{(1)} + \nabla^{(2)},$$

$$R = R^{(1)} + R^{(2)},$$

where $g_1 = g_{AB}dx^A dx^B$, $g_2 = g_{ab}dx^a dx^b$, and $\nabla^{(i)}$ are the Levi Civita connections and $R^{(i)}$ the curvature tensors of (M_i, g_i) , for i = 1, 2. Taking indices $\lambda_r = A$ and $\alpha\beta\mu\nu = abcd$ in the Eq. (4), the *r*th-order homogeneous condition becomes

$$t_{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_{r-1}A}R^a_{bcd}=0.$$

Analogously, taking indices $\lambda_r = a$ and $\alpha \beta \mu \nu = ABCD$, (4) becomes

$$t_{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_{r-1}a}R^A_{BCD}=0.$$

Since the manifold is not flat by hypothesis, if $t^{(r)} \neq 0$ then either $R^a_{bcd} = 0$ or $R^A_{BCD} = 0$, and the manifold is a flat extension of either (M_1, g_1) or (M_2, g_2) . If otherwise $t^{(r)} = 0$, (4) becomes

$$\nabla_{\lambda_1} \dots \nabla_{\lambda_r} R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu\nu} + t_{\lambda_1} \nabla_{\lambda_2} \dots \nabla_{\lambda_r} R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu\nu} + \dots + t_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_{r-1}} \nabla_{\lambda_r} R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu\nu} = 0.$$
(7)

Obviously, if (M, g) is locally symmetric, Eq. (7) is trivially satisfied (and then *r* would be 1). Suppose that the manifold is not locally symmetric. Then, using the same idea as before take now $\lambda_{r-1} = A$, $\lambda_r = e$ and $\alpha\beta\mu\nu = abcd$ on the one hand, and $\lambda_{r-1} = a$, $\lambda_r = E$ and $\alpha\beta\mu\nu = ABCD$ on the other hand, to obtain from (7):

$$t_{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_{r-2}A}\nabla_e R^a_{bcd} = 0, \qquad t_{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_{r-2}a}\nabla_E R^A_{BCD} = 0.$$

Then, if $t^{(r-1)} \neq 0$ and since $\nabla R \neq 0$ it follows that either $\nabla_e R^a_{bcd} = 0$ or $\nabla_E R^A_{BCD} = 0$ and the manifold is a locally symmetric extension of either (M_1, g_1) or (M_2, g_2) . If otherwise $t^{(r-1)} = 0$, the last term on left-hand side of (7) vanishes:

 $\nabla_{\lambda_1} \dots \nabla_{\lambda_r} R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta \mu \nu} + t_{\lambda_1} \nabla_{\lambda_2} \dots \nabla_{\lambda_r} R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta \mu \nu} + \dots + t_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_{r-2}} \nabla_{\lambda_{r-1}} \nabla_{\lambda_r} R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta \mu \nu} = 0.$

Continuing with this reasoning we conclude that either the manifold (M, g) is a proper *rth*-symmetric space, or it admits a *sth*-symmetric extension with $s \le r - \overline{m}$.

Therefore, for \mathcal{KS}_n spaces proper of order r the cases of interest are the indecomposable ones, any others being mere *sth*-symmetric extensions of them: if $t^{(r)} \neq 0$, the manifold is not decomposable except for flat extensions; if $t^{(r)} = 0$ but $t^{(r-1)} \neq 0$, it is not decomposable except for locally symmetric or flat extensions; if $t^{(r)} = 0$ and $t^{(r-1)} = 0$ but $t^{(r-2)} \neq 0$, it is not decomposable except for 2*nd*-symmetric, locally symmetric or flat extensions, and so on.

2.2 Properties of $t^{(r)}$

For \mathcal{KS}_n semi-Riemannian manifolds the following property follows at generic points (these points are defined and discussed in Appendix A):

Lemma 2 [50, 51] If (M, g) is a non-flat \mathcal{KS}_n semi-Riemannian manifold proper of order r, then in a neighbourhood of any generic point $t^{(r)} = 0$.

Proof Applying the second Bianchi identity $\nabla_{\lambda_r} R_{\alpha\beta} |_{\mu\nu} = 0$ to Eq. (4), one gets that

$$t_{\lambda_1...\lambda_{r-1}[\lambda_r} R_{\alpha\beta]\mu\nu} = 0.$$

Let $x \in M$ be generic and $U(x) \subset M$ an open neighbourhood of x with all of its points generic. Then, contracting the previous expression with $R^{-1 \mu\nu\sigma\rho}$ on U(x) one obtains that $t_{\lambda_1...\lambda_{r-1}[\lambda_r} \delta^{\sigma}_{\alpha}] \delta^{\rho}_{\beta} = 0$. Contracting σ with α , and ρ with β , one sees that

$$t_{\lambda_1...\lambda_r} = 0$$
 on $U(x)$.

Lemma 3 [32] Let (M, g) be a non-flat semi-Riemannian manifold of type \mathcal{KS}_n with $r \ge 2$. If $t^{(r-1)} = 0$, then $t^{(r)}$ is symmetric in its last two indices.

Proof If $t^{(r)} = 0$ the claim is obvius. Thus consider the case with $t^{(r)} \neq 0$ —which automatically implies that we are dealing with non-generic points due to Lemma 2. The following identity for the Riemann tensor holds on any semi-Riemannian manifold [63]:

$$\nabla_{[\alpha_1}\nabla_{\alpha_2]}R_{\beta_1\beta_2\lambda_1\lambda_2} + \nabla_{[\beta_1}\nabla_{\beta_2]}R_{\lambda_1\lambda_2\alpha_1\alpha_2} + \nabla_{[\lambda_1}\nabla_{\lambda_2]}R_{\alpha_1\alpha_2\beta_1\beta_2} = 0.$$

Taking the covariant derivative of this identity (r-2)-times and using Eq. (4) and the fact that $t^{(r-1)} = 0$, one gets

$$t_{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_{r-2}[\alpha_1\alpha_2]}R_{\beta_1\beta_2\lambda_1\lambda_2} + t_{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_{r-2}[\beta_1\beta_2]}R_{\lambda_1\lambda_2\alpha_1\alpha_2} + t_{\lambda_1\dots\lambda_{r-2}[\lambda_1\lambda_2]}R_{\alpha_1\alpha_2\beta_1\beta_2} = 0.$$
(8)

Now, define the 2-form $T_{\alpha\beta}^{(\Omega)} = t_{\lambda_1...\lambda_{r-2}[\alpha\beta]}\Omega^{\lambda_1...\lambda_{r-2}}$, for an arbitrary (r-2)contravariant tensor field Ω , so that from Eq. (8) one derives

$$T^{(\Omega)}_{\alpha_1\alpha_2}R_{\beta_1\beta_2\lambda_1\lambda_2} + T^{(\Omega)}_{\beta_1\beta_2}R_{\lambda_1\lambda_2\alpha_1\alpha_2} + T^{(\Omega)}_{\lambda_1\lambda_2}R_{\alpha_1\alpha_2\beta_1\beta_2} = 0.$$
(9)

By using collective indices for each skew-symmetric pair here, say $\mathcal{A} = \alpha_1 \alpha_2$, $\mathcal{B} = \beta_1 \beta_2$ and $\mathcal{C} = \lambda_1 \lambda_2$, this can be viewed as the vanishing of the completely symmetrized product $T_{(\mathcal{A}}^{(\Omega)} R_{\mathcal{BC}}) = 0$, which readily implies that either $T^{(\Omega)} = 0$ or R = 0. As (M, g) is not flat by hypothesis, it follows that $T^{(\Omega)} = 0$ for all possible Ω , that is, $t_{\lambda_1...\lambda_{r-2}[\alpha\beta]} = 0$.

2.3 An interesting property

Here we prove that the existence of a vector field X such that $\nabla X = c\mathbb{1}, c \in \mathbb{R}$, is not possible in general \mathcal{KS}_n spaces unless c = 0. The main properties of such vector fields are collected in Appendix B.

Proposition 1 [50, 51] Let (M, g) be a semi-Riemannian manifold of type \mathcal{KS}_n and assume that the manifold admits a vector field X such that $\nabla X = c\mathbb{1}$ with $c \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. Then, (M, g) is flat.

Proof Contracting (4) with X^{λ_2} and applying Lemma 7 (d) and Lemma 8 in Appendix B one gets:

$$-c(r+1)\nabla_{\lambda_1}\nabla_{\lambda_3}\dots\nabla_{\lambda_r}R^{\alpha}_{\ \beta\lambda\mu}+(t_{\lambda_1\rho}X^{\rho}-crt_{\lambda_1})\nabla_{\lambda_3}\dots\nabla_{\lambda_r}R^{\alpha}_{\ \beta\lambda\mu}\\+t_{\lambda_1\rho\lambda_3}X^{\rho}\nabla_{\lambda_4}\dots\nabla_{\lambda_r}R^{\alpha}_{\ \beta\lambda\mu}+\dots+t_{\lambda_1\rho\dots\lambda_r}X^{\rho}R^{\alpha}_{\ \beta\lambda\mu}=0,$$

which is nothing else than another homogeneous linear differential equation of one order less. Contracting now with X^{λ_3} and using the same idea, one gets:

$$(-c)^{2}(r+1)r\nabla_{\lambda_{1}}\nabla_{\lambda_{4}}\dots\nabla_{\lambda_{r}}R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\lambda\mu}$$

+ $\left((-c)^{2}r(r-1)t_{\lambda_{1}} - c(r-1)t_{\lambda_{1}\rho}X^{\rho} + t_{\lambda_{1}\rho_{1}\rho_{2}}X^{\rho_{1}}X^{\rho_{2}}\right)\nabla_{\lambda_{4}}\dots\nabla_{\lambda_{r}}R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\lambda\mu}$
+ $t_{\lambda_{1}\rho_{1}\rho_{2}\lambda_{4}}X^{\rho_{1}}X^{\rho_{2}}\nabla_{\lambda_{5}}\dots\nabla_{\lambda_{r}}R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\lambda\mu} + \dots + t_{\lambda_{1}\rho_{1}\rho_{2}\lambda_{4}\dots\lambda_{r}}X^{\rho_{1}}X^{\rho_{2}}R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\lambda\mu} = 0.$

Following the same reasoning and contracting with $X^{\lambda_4}, \dots, X^{\lambda_r}$ it is possible to conclude that $\nabla_{\lambda_1} R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\lambda\mu} = \bar{t}_{\lambda_1} R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\lambda\mu}$ for some 1-form \bar{t} .

However, contracting here with X_{α} and using (45) one obtains

$$X_{\alpha} \nabla_{\lambda_1} R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta \lambda \mu} = 0 = -R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta \lambda \mu} \nabla_{\lambda_1} X_{\alpha} = -c R_{\lambda_1 \beta \lambda \mu}$$

so that the metric is flat.

2.4 Classification

Observe that lowering the index α , skew-symmetrizing the indices λ_r , α , β in Eq. (4) and using the second Bianchi identity $\nabla_{\alpha} R_{\beta\lambda} |_{\mu\nu} = 0$, one gets that

$$t_{\lambda_1 \lambda_2 \dots [\lambda_r} R_{\alpha \beta] \lambda \mu} = 0. \tag{10}$$

This statement is vacuous at generic points as a consequence of Lemma 2. However, whenever $t^{(r)} \neq 0$ this leads to the classification of \mathcal{KS}_n spaces. We start with

Proposition 2 [32] Let (M, g) be a \mathcal{KS}_n space with $t^{(r)} \neq 0$. Then, there exist a non-vanishing one-form $\omega \in \Lambda(M)$ such that

$$\omega_{[\gamma} R_{\alpha\beta]\lambda\mu} = 0. \tag{11}$$

Proof This is basically the content of Eq. (10). For each (r - 1)-contravariant tensor field Ω it is possible to define the following one-form associated to Ω :

$$t_{\alpha}^{(\Omega)} = \Omega^{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_{r-1}} t_{\lambda_1 \lambda_2 \dots \lambda_{r-1} \alpha}.$$

At least one of these $t^{(\Omega)}$ does not vanish, as otherwise $t^{(r)} = 0$ contrary to the assumption. Choose then an Ω such that $\omega := t^{(\Omega)} \neq 0$. Equation (10) provides the result.

Definition 5 (The sub-module \mathcal{L}) Let \mathcal{L} denote the set of all $\omega \in \Lambda(M)$ satisfying (11).

Obviously, by linearity, \mathcal{L} is a sub-module of $\Lambda(M)$. As we see below, the dimension of \mathcal{L} cannot be greater than two, which together with Eq. (11) will lead to a decomposition of the curvature tensor depending on the dimension of \mathcal{L} . This result is very powerful since it gives the possibility of completing a classification of \mathcal{KS}_n -spaces. To prove this theorem some previous results are needed. The following lemma is well known.

Lemma 4 If there exists a one-form ω such that $\omega_{[\gamma} R_{\alpha\beta]\lambda\mu} = 0$, then there exist a 2-covariant symmetric tensor field Q such that $R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = 4\omega_{[\alpha} Q_{\beta][\lambda}\omega_{\mu]}$.

The tensor field $Q_{\beta\lambda}$ is not uniquely defined, as there is the gauge freedom

$$Q_{\beta\lambda} \longrightarrow Q_{\beta\lambda} + \omega_{\beta}\tau_{\lambda} + \omega_{\lambda}\tau_{\beta} \tag{12}$$

for arbitrary $\tau \in \Lambda(M)$. This freedom can be used to simplify Q. Basically, all components of Q along ω can be removed. Thus, Q—and a fortiori R—contains at most n(n-1)/2 independent components.

Lemma 5 If there exists two linearly independent one-forms ω , $\rho \in \Lambda(M)$ such that $R_{\alpha\beta[\lambda\mu}\omega_{\nu]} = 0$ and $R_{\alpha\beta[\lambda\mu}\rho_{\nu]} = 0$, then $R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = 4A \omega_{[\alpha}\rho_{\beta]}\rho_{[\lambda}\omega_{\mu]}$ for some scalar *A*.

Proof By Lemma 4 there exists a 2-covariant symmetric tensor field Q such that $R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = 4\omega_{[\alpha}Q_{\beta][\lambda}\omega_{\mu]}$. But since $R_{\alpha\beta[\lambda\mu}\rho_{\nu]} = 0$ also, using the symmetry in the interchange of skew-symmetric pairs for R and the symmetry of Q, the only possibility is that $Q_{\beta\lambda} = A \rho_{\beta}\rho_{\lambda} + \omega_{\beta}\tau_{\lambda} + \omega_{\lambda}\tau_{\beta}$ for some scalar A and some $\tau \in \Lambda(M)$. But using the gauge freedom (12) we arrive at $Q_{\beta\lambda} = A \rho_{\beta}\rho_{\lambda}$ as required.

In this situation $R = AF \otimes F$ where $F \in \Lambda^2 M$ is the two-form $F = \omega \wedge \rho$, and R contains a single independent component.

Lemma 6 (dim $\mathcal{L} \leq 2$) In general, dim \mathcal{L} cannot be greater than 2.

Proof By Lemma 5 any third one-form $\sigma \in \Lambda(M)$ satisfying $R_{\alpha\beta[\lambda\mu}\sigma_{\nu]} = 0$ will necessarily satisfy $\omega_{[\lambda}\rho_{\mu}\sigma_{\nu]} = 0$ —unless $R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = 0$ –, that is $\omega \wedge \rho \wedge \sigma = 0$, meaning that ω , ρ and σ are linearly dependent.

There is a strong similarity between the sub-module \mathcal{L} and the so-called "Olszak distribution" [21, 39] defined in conformally recurrent manifolds for the Weyl tensor instead of *R*. Actually, their algebraic properties are identical, however, the Olszak distribution is a 2- or 1-dimensional *parallel* distribution, while \mathcal{L} will not have the parallel property in general, at least not in principle.

From Proposition 2 and Lemma 6 the next theorem follows at once.

Theorem 2 If (M, g) is a non-flat \mathcal{KS}_n space with $t^{(r)} \neq 0$, then dim $\mathcal{L} \in \{1, 2\}$.

Thus, the following classification is in order:

Definition 6 \mathcal{KS}_n spaces can be classified into the following disjoint classes: Type 0, Type I and Type II according to whether dim $\mathcal{L} = 0, 1$ or 2 respectively.

All \mathcal{KS}_n with $t^{(r)} \neq 0$ are of types I or II due to Proposition 2, so that \mathcal{L} is nonempty. The Riemann tensor assumes the form given in Lemma 4 for Type I and that of Lemma 5 for Type II. However, \mathcal{KS}_n with $t^{(r)} = 0$ may also belong to types I or II if they happen to have dim $\mathcal{L} > 0$, and in this situation the previous forms of the Riemann tensor also apply. On the other hand, Type 0 requires $t^{(r)} = 0$ and all possible manifolds with generic points belong here—at least in the domains with such points. At this stage it is not clear whether there are any possible manifolds of Type 0, and it may turn out that they are impossible. In any case, the outstanding possibility of \mathcal{KS}_n with $t^{(r)} = 0$ are the *r*-symmetric semi-Riemannian manifolds defined by $\nabla^r R = 0$. All known results concerning *r*-symmetry are collected in Sect. 4, and all the known cases will belong to types I or II.

Proposition 3 [32] Let (M, g) be a KS_n space of type I or II. Then, the following relations are satisfied:

$$\omega_{\rho} R^{\rho}{}_{\alpha\beta\lambda} = 2R_{\alpha[\lambda}\omega_{\beta]}, \quad \forall \omega \in \mathcal{L}$$
(13)

$$\omega^{\rho} R_{\rho\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} S \omega_{\alpha}, \quad \forall \omega \in \mathcal{L},$$
(14)

$$\mathcal{G} := R^{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu}R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} - 4R^{\alpha\beta}R_{\alpha\beta} + S^2 = 0.$$
(15)

Proof Take Eq. (11) and contract the indices μ and γ to get (13). Next, contract α and λ in (13) to get (14). Finally, contract (11) with $R^{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu}$ and use first (13) once, and then (14) twice to obtain (15).

In (15) one recognizes the Gauss–Bonnet scalar \mathcal{G} . This is identically zero if $n \leq 3$, and in n = 4 has special topological properties—see Sect. 5.

Corollary 1 If (M, g) is a \mathcal{KS}_n space of type I or II, then

- (a) The Gauss-Bonnet scalar vanishes
- (b) the scalar curvature vanishes if and only if $R_{\alpha\beta}\omega^{\beta} = 0, \forall \omega \in \mathcal{L};$
- (c) ω is, at each point, an eigenvector of the Ricci tensor with eigenvalue $\frac{S}{2}$.

Corollary 2 If (M, g) is a KS_n space of type I or II, and is also an Einstein space of dimension n > 2, then it is in fact Ricci flat.

Proof Substituting $R_{\alpha\mu} = \frac{1}{n}Sg_{\alpha\mu}$ into (14) one gets $\frac{1}{n}S = \frac{1}{2}S$ which implies S = 0 if n > 2, and the space is Ricci flat.

Proposition 4 If (M, g) is a \mathcal{KS}_n Einstein space of type I or II, then

$$R^{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu}R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu}=0.$$

In particular, if (M, g) is Riemannian, it is actually flat.

Proof From the vanishing of the Gauss–Bonnet term (15) and the previous Corollary 2 one readily gets $R^{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu}R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = 0$. Of course, if the metric is positive definite, this implies the vanishing of *R*.

2.4.1 Type I

In this class of manifolds dim $\mathcal{L} = 1$ and there exists a one-form $\omega \in \Lambda(M)$ such that $\mathcal{L} = < \omega >$. By Lemma 4, there also exists a 2-covariant symmetric tensor field $Q_{\alpha\beta}$ such that the curvature tensor, the Ricci tensor and the scalar curvature have the form

$$R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = 4\omega_{[\alpha}Q_{\beta][\lambda}\omega_{\mu]}; \tag{16}$$

$$R_{\alpha\beta} = \omega_{\alpha} Q_{\beta\rho} \omega^{\rho} + \omega_{\beta} Q_{\alpha\rho} \omega^{\rho} - \omega_{\rho} \omega^{\rho} Q_{\alpha\beta} - Q_{\rho}^{\ \rho} \omega_{\alpha} \omega_{\beta}; \tag{17}$$

$$S = 2Q_{\rho\sigma}\omega^{\rho}\omega^{\sigma} - 2\omega^{\rho}\omega_{\rho}Q_{\sigma}^{\ \sigma}.$$
(18)

Observe that, if \overline{X} is a vector field such that $\omega(\overline{X}) = 1$, then

$$Q_{\alpha\beta} = R_{\alpha\rho\beta\sigma}\overline{X}^{\rho}\overline{X}^{\sigma}; \qquad Q = R_{\rho\sigma}\overline{X}^{\rho}\overline{X}^{\sigma}.$$

Type I can be split into two cases depending on whether or not \mathcal{L} is degenerate. Thus we have

- Type I_{ϵ} if \mathcal{L} is non-lightlike, that is if ω is non-null.
- Type I_N if \mathcal{L} is lightlike, i.e., if ω is a lightlike one-form.

Clearly, there are no KS_n spaces of type I_N in the Riemannian case.

Let (M, g) be a \mathcal{KS}_n of type I_{ϵ} and set $\epsilon := g(\omega, \omega) = \pm 1$. Then, using the freedom (12) one can always choose $Q_{\alpha\beta}$ totally orthogonal to ω , $Q_{\alpha\beta}\omega^{\beta} = 0$, as we do from now on for type I_{ϵ} . Under this condition, Eqs. (17)–(18) reduce to

$$R_{\alpha\beta} = -\epsilon Q_{\alpha\beta} - Q_{\rho}^{\ \rho} \omega_{\alpha} \omega_{\beta}; \tag{19}$$

$$S = -2\epsilon Q_{\rho}^{\ \rho},\tag{20}$$

Therefore, the 2-covariant tensor field $Q_{\alpha\beta}$ can be written in terms of the Ricci tensor and the scalar curvature as

$$Q_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{S}{2}\omega_{\alpha}\omega_{\beta} - \epsilon R_{\alpha\beta}; \qquad Q_{\alpha\beta}\omega^{\beta} = 0.$$

Using this form of $Q_{\alpha\beta}$ it is straightforward to derive the next

Corollary 3 The curvature tensor of type I_{ϵ} can be written in terms of the Ricci tensor as

$$R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = 4\omega_{[\alpha}R_{\beta][\lambda}\omega_{\mu]}.$$

For type I_{ϵ} , all possible decompositions of the Ricci tensor and the metric were given in [31] for the Riemannian case, and for the Lorentzian signature in [32].

Theorem 3 A \mathcal{KS}_n semi-Riemannian manifold (M, g) of type I_{ϵ} is not $\frac{1}{2p}$ -symmetric for any value of $p \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof We will use the general expression (16) for the curvature tensor with $Q_{\alpha\beta}\omega^{\beta} = 0$, as we have already argued. Then, using (16) and the Ricci identity it is possible to prove that

$$\nabla_{[\alpha_2} \nabla_{\alpha_1]} R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = 2 \left(\omega_{[\lambda} Q_{\mu][\alpha} Q_{\beta][\alpha_2} \omega_{\alpha_1]} + \omega_{[\alpha} Q_{\beta][\lambda} Q_{\mu][\alpha_2} \omega_{\alpha_1]} \right).$$
(21)

A somewhat longer calculation, using the above expression and the Ricci identity again, allows one to prove that

$$\nabla_{[\alpha_{4}}\nabla_{\alpha_{3}]}\nabla_{[\alpha_{2}}\nabla_{\alpha_{1}]}R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu}$$

$$= 4\left(\omega_{[\alpha_{3}}Q_{\alpha_{4}][\lambda}Q_{\mu][\alpha}Q_{\beta][\alpha_{2}}\omega_{\alpha_{1}]} + \omega_{[\alpha_{3}}Q_{\alpha_{4}][\alpha}Q_{\beta][\lambda}Q_{\mu][\alpha_{2}}\omega_{\alpha_{1}]}\right)$$

$$+ \omega_{[\alpha_{3}}Q_{\alpha_{4}][\alpha_{2}}Q_{\alpha_{1}][\alpha}Q_{\beta][\lambda}\omega_{\mu]} + \omega_{[\alpha_{3}}Q_{\alpha_{4}][\alpha_{2}}Q_{\alpha_{1}][\lambda}Q_{\mu][\alpha}\omega_{\beta]}\right)$$

$$+ 4\epsilon\left(\omega_{\mu}Q^{\rho}{}_{[\alpha_{4}}\omega_{\alpha_{3}]}\omega_{[\alpha}Q_{\beta][\rho}Q_{\lambda][\alpha_{2}}\omega_{\alpha_{1}]} - \omega_{\lambda}Q^{\rho}{}_{[\alpha_{4}}\omega_{\alpha_{3}]}\omega_{[\alpha}Q_{\beta][\rho}Q_{\mu][\alpha_{2}}\omega_{\alpha_{1}]}\right)$$

$$+ \omega_{\beta}Q^{\rho}{}_{[\alpha_{4}}\omega_{\alpha_{3}}]\omega_{[\lambda}Q_{\mu][\rho}Q_{\alpha][\alpha_{2}}\omega_{\alpha_{1}]} - \omega_{\alpha}Q^{\rho}{}_{[\alpha_{4}}\omega_{\alpha_{3}}]\omega_{[\lambda}Q_{\mu][\rho}Q_{\beta][\alpha_{2}}\omega_{\alpha_{1}]}\right)$$
(22)

Contracting (21) with ω^{μ} and ω^{α_2} and using the condition of semi-symmetry (p = 1), and contracting (22) with ω^{μ} and ω^{α_4} and using the condition of $\frac{1}{4}$ -symmetry (p = 2) one gets respectively:

$$\begin{aligned} Q_{\lambda[\alpha}Q_{\beta]\alpha_1} &= 0, \\ Q_{\alpha_3[\alpha_2}Q_{\alpha_1][\alpha}Q_{\beta]\lambda} + \omega_{\alpha}Q^{\rho}{}_{\alpha_3}Q_{\lambda[\rho}Q_{\beta][\alpha_2}\omega_{\alpha_1]} - \omega_{\beta}Q^{\rho}{}_{\alpha_3}Q_{\lambda[\rho}Q_{\alpha][\alpha_2}\omega_{\alpha_1]} &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

Observe that since $Q_{\alpha\beta}$ is totally orthogonal to span{ ω }, and ω is not null, the completely orthogonal parts with respect to ω of the two equations are

$$Q_{\lambda[\alpha}Q_{\beta]\alpha_1} = 0,$$

$$Q_{\alpha_3[\alpha_2}Q_{\alpha_1][\alpha}Q_{\beta]\lambda} = 0.$$
(23)

In fact, reasoning in a similar way, that is to say, contracting the $\frac{1}{2n}$ -symmetry condition

$$\nabla_{[\alpha_{2p}} \nabla_{\alpha_{2p-1}]} \dots \nabla_{[\alpha_{2}} \nabla_{\alpha_{1}]} \left(\omega_{[\alpha} Q_{\beta][\lambda} \omega_{\mu]} \right) = 0$$

(after using the Ricci identity) with ω^{μ} and $\omega^{\alpha_{2p}}$ and taking the completely orthogonal part with respect to ω one gets

$$Q_{\alpha_{(2p-1)}[\alpha_{(2p-2)}}\ldots Q_{\alpha_1][\alpha}Q_{\beta]\lambda}=0.$$

Any of these conditions leads to a Q with matrix-rank 1. To see this, for *any* vector field Y define the one-form Q^Y by means of $Q_{\alpha}^{(Y)} := Q_{\alpha\beta}Y^{\beta}$. Then, Eq. (23) leads to

$$Q^{(Y)} \wedge Q^{(\overline{Y})} = 0, \qquad \forall Y, \overline{Y} \in TM.$$

Hence, all the $Q^{(Y)}$ are proportional to each other for arbitrary vector field Y. This readily implies that $Q_{\alpha\beta} = \sigma_{\alpha}\rho_{\beta}$ for some one forms $\sigma, \rho \in \Lambda(M)$. As $Q_{\alpha\beta}$ is symmetric, necessarily $\sigma = A\rho$ for some scalar A, and $Q_{ab} = A \rho_{\alpha}\rho_{\beta}$. Thus $R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = 4\omega_{[\alpha}\rho_{\beta]}\rho_{[\lambda}\omega_{\mu]}$ and the manifold would be of type II, contrary to the assumption. Similarly for larger values of p.

Consider now the case of \mathcal{KS}_n of type I_N , so that ω is a lightlike one-form. Now the Eqs. (17)–(18) reduce to

$$R_{\alpha\beta} = \omega_{\alpha} Q_{\beta\rho} \omega^{\rho} + \omega_{\beta} Q_{\alpha\rho} \omega^{\rho} - Q_{\rho}^{\ \rho} \omega_{\alpha} \omega_{\beta}; \qquad (24)$$

$$S = 2Q_{\rho\sigma}\omega^{\rho}\omega^{\sigma}.$$
(25)

In the Lorentzian case, the existence of the null ω satisfying (11) implies that ω is in fact a multiple *aligned null direction* (AND) of the Riemann tensor (a 'RAND') so that the curvature tensor is algebraically special. For the definition and properties of AND, see [41] and references therein. Furthermore, it is easy to prove from (11) that the Weyl tensor satisfies

$$\omega_{\rho} C^{\rho} \,_{\alpha[\beta\lambda} \omega_{\mu]} = 0$$

so that ω is also a multiple AND for the Weyl tensor (a 'WAND').

Instead of using the Weyl tensor, Kaigorodov [31] chose to provide a classification of type I_N based on the Ricci tensor. Observe that from (24) one can easily deduce that the rank of the Ricci tensor matrix is less than or equal to 2. The classification combined this rank with the vanishing or not of the scalar curvature as follows.

- (i) when the Ricci tensor vanishes (rank 0) or its rank is equal to 1,
- (ii) when the rank of the Ricci tensor is equal to 2 and the scalar curvature does not vanish,
- (iii) and finally when the rank is equal to 2 and the scalar curvature does vanish.

For details consult [31].

2.4.2 Type II

In this class of manifolds dim $\mathcal{L} = 2$ and there exist two linearly independet one-forms $\omega, \rho \in \Lambda(M)$ that generate \mathcal{L} . By Lemma 5, the curvature tensor, the Ricci tensor and the scalar curvature assume the form:

$$R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = 4A\,\omega_{[\alpha}\rho_{\beta]}\rho_{[\lambda}\omega_{\mu]};\tag{26}$$

$$R_{\alpha\beta} = A \left(2(\omega_{\nu}\rho^{\nu})\omega_{(\alpha}\rho_{\beta)} - (\rho_{\sigma}\rho^{\sigma})\omega_{\alpha}\omega_{\beta} - (\omega_{\rho}\omega^{\rho})\rho_{\alpha}\rho_{\beta} \right);$$
(27)

$$S = 2A \left[(\omega_{\nu} \rho^{\nu})^2 - \omega_{\rho} \omega^{\rho} \rho_{\sigma} \rho^{\sigma} \right].$$
⁽²⁸⁾

As a general result for type II we have the following.

Theorem 4 ([30, 32]) All \mathcal{KS}_n spaces of type II are semi-symmetric.

Proof Introducing the explicit expression for the curvature given in (26) into the left-hand side of (2) the result is identically zero. \Box

Now take the expression (4) and antisymmetrize in the indices λ_{r-1} and λ_r . Since a \mathcal{KS}_n space of type II is semi-symmetric by Theorem 4, one gets that for type II

$$t_{\lambda_1\dots[\lambda_{r-1}}\nabla_{\lambda_r]}R^{\alpha}_{\ \beta\mu\nu} + t_{\lambda_1\dots[\lambda_{r-1}\lambda_r]}R^{\alpha}_{\ \beta\mu\nu} = 0.$$
⁽²⁹⁾

Corollary 4 Let (M, g) be a non-flat \mathcal{KS}_n of type II with $r \ge 2$. Then, if the *r*-covariant tensor field $t^{(r)}$ in (1) is symmetric in its last two indices, it follows that

$$t_{\lambda_1\dots[\lambda_{r-1}}\nabla_{\lambda_r]}R^{\alpha}_{\beta\mu\nu}=0$$

and $t^{(r)}$ can be decomposed as:

$$t^{(r)} = A_1 \otimes \omega \otimes \omega + A_2 \otimes (\omega \otimes \rho + \rho \otimes \omega) + A_3 \otimes \rho \otimes \rho$$
(30)

for some (r - 2) covariant tensor fields A_1 , A_2 and A_3 . In particular, this is always true for type II KS_n spaces with $t^{(r-1)} = 0$.

Proof If the r-covariant tensor $t^{(r)}$ in (1) is symmetric in its last two indices the first relation follows directly from (29). Also, contracting (10) with $Z^{\lambda_r} \in \mathcal{L}^{\perp}$ and using (26) one gets

$$Z^{\lambda_r} t_{\lambda_1 \dots \lambda_{r-1} \lambda_r} = 0, \qquad \forall Z \in \mathcal{L}^\perp$$

since (M, g) is non-flat. Given that $t^{(r)}$ is symmetric in its last two indices, the decomposition (30) follows at once. The last sentence is a consequence of Lemma 3. The case where $t^{(r)} = 0$ is included here with $A_1 = A_2 = A_3 = 0$.

Type II \mathcal{KS}_n semi-Riemannian manifolds can be naturally split into three different classes according to the level of degeneracy of \mathcal{L} . In particular we have—see also [30]–

- Type II_{ϵ} if \mathcal{L} is non degenerate, so that it admits an orthonormal basis with $g(\omega, \omega) := \epsilon_{\omega} = \pm 1, g(\rho, \rho) := \epsilon_{\rho} = \pm 1$ and $g(\omega, \rho) = 0$. Here $\epsilon \in \{1, 0, -1\}$ can be defined by $\epsilon := (\epsilon_{\omega} + \epsilon_{\rho})/2$.
- Type II_{N_ϵ} if *L* is degenerate of rank 1, i.e., if *L* admits a basis {ω, ρ} so that g(ω, ω) = 0, g(ρ, ρ) := ϵ = ±1 and g(ω, ρ) = 0.
- Type II₀ if \mathcal{L} is degenerate of rank 0 (the metric on \mathcal{L} vanishes) so that \mathcal{L} admits a basis of two null and mutually orthogonal null one-forms: $g(\omega, \omega) = 0$, $g(\rho, \rho) = 0$ and $g(\omega, \rho) = 0$.

Observe that in the Riemannian case only type II_1 spaces are possible. In the Lorentzian case, types II_{-1} , II_0 and $II_{N_{-1}}$ are not possible either.

For type II_{ϵ} relations (27) and (28) simplify to

$$R_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{S}{2} \left(\epsilon_{\omega} \omega_{\alpha} \omega_{\beta} + \epsilon_{\rho} \rho_{\alpha} \rho_{\beta} \right); \tag{31}$$

$$S = -2\epsilon_{\rho}\epsilon_{\omega}A.$$
(32)

The first of these states that the Ricci tensor is actually proportional to the metric on the 2-dimensional space \mathcal{L} . Furthermore,

Proposition 5 [30] Let (M, g) be a non-flat \mathcal{KS}_n of type II_{ϵ} . Then

- (a) the scalar curvature is non-vanishing.
- (b) The curvature tensor, the Ricci tensor and the scalar curvature satisfy the following equations:

$$\frac{1}{2}SR_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = R_{\alpha\lambda}R_{\beta\mu} - R_{\alpha\mu}R_{\beta\lambda}, \qquad (33)$$

$$R^{\alpha}{}_{\rho}R^{\rho}{}_{\beta} = \frac{1}{2}SR^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, \qquad (34)$$

$$R_{\alpha\beta}R^{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2}S^2,\tag{35}$$

$$R_{\alpha\beta\rho\sigma}R^{\rho\sigma\lambda\mu} = SR_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu},\tag{36}$$

$$R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu}R^{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = S^2. \tag{37}$$

Proof From (26) and (32) one has

$$R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = 2\,\epsilon_{\rho}\epsilon_{\omega}S\,\omega_{[\alpha}\rho_{\beta]}\rho_{[\lambda}\omega_{\mu]}$$

so that S = 0 would imply vanishing curvature. From this and (31) Eqs. (33–37) follow.

Consider now type $II_{N_{\epsilon}}$. The relations (27) and (28) simplify now to

$$R_{\alpha\beta} = -\epsilon A\omega_{\alpha}\omega_{\beta}; \tag{38}$$

$$S = 0. \tag{39}$$

Proposition 6 [30] Let (M, g) be a \mathcal{KS}_n of type II_{N_e} . Then,

- (a) The scalar curvature vanishes.
- (b) The curvature tensor and the Ricci tensor satisfy

$$R_{\alpha\rho}R^{\rho}{}_{\beta} = 0;$$
 $R_{\alpha\beta}R^{\alpha\beta} = 0;$ $R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu}R^{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = 0.$

Proof (a) is just formula (39). (b) follows from (26) and (38).

For Lorentzian type II_{N_1} , ω is a multiple AND [41] of maximum multiplicity and the Riemann, Ricci and Weyl tensors are of the so-called type *N*.

Finally, consider type II₀. Relations (27) and (28) become

$$R_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad S = 0. \tag{40}$$

It is straightforward then to prove the following:

Proposition 7 [30] Let (M, g) be a \mathcal{KS}_n of type II₀. Then

- (a) (M, g) is Ricci flat.
- (b) the curvature tensor coincides with the Weyl tensor and satisfies $R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\rho}R^{\rho}_{\mu\nu\sigma}$ = 0.

3 A model family: the class \mathcal{KS}_n is not empty

In this section, in order to prove that the homogeneous Eq. (1) has a non-empty set of solutions, an explicit family of semi-Riemannian metrics satisfying the general Eq. (1) and (3) for each $r \ge 1$ is presented in the following theorem:

Theorem 5 [50, 51] Let (\mathbb{R}^n, g) be an irreducible semi-Riemannian manifold of signature (p+1, q+1), p+q = n-2 with Cartesian coordinates $\{u, v, x^2, \ldots, x^{n-1}\}$ endowed with the metric

$$g = 2du \left(dv + A_{ij}(u)x^i x^j du \right) + \eta_{ij} dx^i dx^j$$

where η is the flat semi-Riemannian metric of signature (p, q) on \mathbb{R}^{n-2} and $A_{ij}(u)$ are functions of u with $A_{ij} = A_{ji}$ $(i, j, \dots = 2, \dots n-1)$.

Choose fixed functions $B_{ij}(u)$ on M. Then, (M, g) satisfies the linear differential condition on the curvature (3) with

$$t^{(m)} = a_m(u) \underbrace{du \otimes \ldots \otimes du}_{m}, \qquad B = B_{ij}(u) \underbrace{du \otimes \cdots \otimes du}_{r} \otimes \frac{\partial}{\partial v} \otimes dx^i \otimes dx^j \otimes du$$

if and only if the functions $A_{ij}(u)$ satisfy

$$\frac{d^{r}A_{ij}}{du^{r}} + \sum_{m=1}^{r} a_m(u) \frac{d^{r-m}A_{ij}}{du^{r-m}} = B_{ij}(u)$$
(41)

for all i, j.

In particular, (M, g) satisfies the homogeneous linear differential condition on the curvature (1), and therefore is a \mathcal{KS}_n space, if and only if all the functions $A_{ij}(u)$

satisfy the same and unique homogenous ordinary differential equation

$$\frac{d^r y}{du^r} + \sum_{m=1}^r a_m(u) \frac{d^{r-m} y}{du^{r-m}} = 0.$$
(42)

Proof If one takes the general co-basis for the cotagent bundle T^*M given by:

$$\theta^0 = du; \quad \theta^1 = dv + A_{ij}(u)x^i x^j du; \quad \theta^i = dx^i,$$

the metric can be written as

$$g = 2\theta^0 \theta^1 + \sum_{i=2}^{n-1} \epsilon_i (\theta^i)^2$$
, with $(\epsilon_i)^2 = 1$.

The connection 1-forms ω_{β}^{α} can be computed from the formulae $\nabla g = 0$, $d\theta^{\alpha} = -\omega_{\beta}^{\alpha} \wedge \theta^{\beta}$ (see [16] for more information) and the fact that $\theta^{0} = du$ is a null parallel one-form. Then, the only non-vanishing connection 1-forms are:

$$\omega_i^1 = A_{ik} x^k \theta^o = -\omega_0^i.$$

Calculating the curvature 2-forms Ω^{α}_{β} by the formulae $\Omega^{\alpha}_{\beta} = d\omega^{\alpha}_{\beta} + \omega^{\alpha}_{\rho} \wedge \omega^{\rho}_{\beta}$, one deduces that the only non-vanishing components of the curvature *R* are:

$$R^1_{ij0} = A_{ij}(u).$$

It is easy to show that, therefore, the non-vanishing components of ∇R , $\nabla^2 R$, ..., $\nabla^r R$ in this co-basis are, respectively:

$$\nabla_0 R^1{}_{ij0} = \frac{d}{du} A_{ij}(u);$$

$$\nabla_0 \nabla_0 R^1{}_{ij0} = \frac{d^2}{du^2} A_{ij}(u);$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\underbrace{\nabla_0 \dots \nabla_0}_r R^1{}_{ij0} = \frac{d^r}{du^r} A_{ij}(u).$$

In conclusion, the only non-vanishing components that survive for the terms $\nabla^m R$ on the left-hand side of the homogeneous lineal differential conditions (3) in this co-basis are those associated to

$$\underbrace{\theta^0 \otimes \ldots \otimes \theta^0}_m \otimes \partial_v \otimes \theta^i \otimes \theta^j \otimes \theta^0$$

and therefore the only way that (3) can be satisfied is that the tensor fields $t^{(m)}$ have the form

$$t^{(m)} = a_m(u) \underbrace{du \otimes \ldots \otimes du}_m.$$

Then, (3) reduces in this co-basis to (41). If the fixed tensor field B = 0, and as all the $t^{(m)}$ do not depend on *i*, *j*, then all the A_{ij} must satisfy the unique ODE (42).

This family contains an example of a solution for a specific homogeneous linear differential equation of order $r \ge 1$, for each r. Observe that each $t^{(m)} = a_m(u)\theta^0 \otimes \ldots \otimes \theta^0$ is a fully symmetric recurrent tensor field $\forall m = 1, \ldots, r$, since $\nabla t^{(m)} = \frac{\dot{a}_m}{a_m}\theta^0 \otimes t^{(m)}$, where \dot{m} means derivation with respect to the variable u. This raises the questions of whether or not, in general, the tensor fields $t^{(m)}$ will have any type of symmetry or recurrent properties.

All the manifolds in the new family given in Theorem 5 possess a parallel lightlike one-form du, whose contravariant version is ∂_v , so that they realize all signatures *except the Riemannian one*. This model family in Theorem 5 has vanishing scalar curvature S = 0, and the Ricci tensor field is given by

$$Ric = \eta^{ij} A_{ij}(u) du \otimes du$$

where η^{ij} is the contravariant, inverse, metric of η_{ij} . In the classification of the previous section, they belong to one of the following cases, always with $\omega = \theta^0 = du$:

- type I_N with the additional property that $Q_{\alpha\beta}\omega^{\beta} = 0$, where $Q_{\alpha\beta}$ corresponds essentially to A_{ij} .
- type II_{N_1} if rank $(A_{ij}) = 1$.

As a final comment, it is remarkable that there exists a one-to-one correspondence between the \mathcal{KS}_n model family described in Theorem 5 and the family of order-*r* linear ordinary differential equations.

4 Particular cases of special relevance

In this section a compendium of the most relevant particular families of semi-Riemannian manifolds contained in the \mathcal{KS}_n manifolds that have been already studied in the literature is given, with particular emphasis in their (non)-existence and their known properties. For more than 100 years a vast work has been developed characterizing and classifying semi-Riemannian manifolds with conditions on the curvature. The outstanding example is the class of *locally symmetric spaces*, defined by the condition

$$\nabla R = 0$$

so that *R* is parallel propagated along any direction. Introduced by Shirokov in [55] these were thoroughly studied and classified by Cartan in 1926–27 [14, 15] in the Riemannian case, and later in 1970 by Cahen and Wallach in the Lorentzian case [11].

The next important family is the set of recurrent spaces, defined by the condition

$$\nabla R = \sigma \otimes R$$

for some 1-form $\sigma \in \Lambda(M)$, so that ∇R is being propagated parallel to itself along any direction. First introduced by Ruse in 1946 [46], they contain the locally symmetric ones and thus they are referred to as *proper recurrent space* if $\omega \neq 0$. Locally symmetric and proper recurrent (M, g) belong to the family of \mathcal{KS}_n spaces for r = 1, the former with $t^{(1)} = t^{(r)} = 0$.

More generally, *rth-order recurrent spaces*, or shortly *r-recurrent spaces*, were introduced in [20], and are defined by the condition

$$\nabla^r R = -t^{(r)} \otimes R$$

where $t^{(r)}$ is a *r*-covariant tensor field. If $t^{(r)} \neq 0$, they are called *proper rth-recurrent* spaces while if $t^{(r)} = 0$, so that the curvature condition reads simply

$$\nabla^r R = 0,$$

they are called *rth-order symmetric spaces*—or shortly *r-symmetric spaces*—and were introduced¹ in [49]. A *rth*-order symmetric space is *proper* if it satisfies $\nabla^r R = 0$ but $\nabla^{r-1} R \neq 0$. Proper *r*-recurrent and *r*-symmetric spaces belong to the class \mathcal{KS}_n with $t^{(m)} = 0$ for all $m = 1, \ldots, r - 1$ in the former case, and also with $t^{(r)} = 0$ in the latter.

As a corollary of Lemma 2, one can state the following:

Corollary 5 ([49, 58]) At generic points, rth-order recurrent semi-Riemannian manifolds are rth-order symmetric.

Important known results about locally symmetric, recurrent, proper *r*-symmetric and proper *r*-recurrent spaces are summarized in what follows. Starting with Riemannian Geometry, traditional results show that there are no proper *r*-symmetric Riemannian spaces with r > 1 [35, 38, 58]; and letting aside obvious flat extensions of 2-dimensional recurrent spaces, for n > 2 there are no proper recurrent Riemannian manifolds [37, 63]. Furthermore, there are no proper 2*nd*-order recurrent Riemannian spaces, all of them being locally symmetric. Summarizing:

Theorem 6 Let (M, g) be a Riemannian manifold of dimension n. Then:

- (a) [35, 58] if it is rth-symmetric, or
- (b) [44, 45] if it is recurrent, or proper 2nd-order recurrent and n > 2,

then it is actually locally symmetric.

Concerning recurrent spaces for signatures other than Riemannian one has the following theorem due to Walker [63] that provides a classification of recurrent semi-Riemannian manifolds:

¹ Kaigorodov already defined these spaces in [32] but with the added condition that the subspace \mathcal{L} of Definition 5 is non-empty. Examples of *r*-symmetric spaces were given in [32] and in [25].

Theorem 7 [63] Letting aside obvious flat extensions, for n > 2 any proper recurrent semi-Riemannian manifold of signature (p+1,q+1) satisfying $\nabla R = \sigma \otimes R$ with $\sigma \neq 0$:

- (a) is not reducible;
- (b) has a parallel lightlike one-form ω ($\nabla \omega = 0$ and $g(\omega, \omega) = 0$) such that $\sigma \wedge \omega = 0$;
- (c) belongs to the model family of \mathcal{KS}_n given in Theorem 5 with $\omega = du$, $A_{ij}(u) = F(u)M_{ij}$, $M_{ij} \in \mathbb{R}$ with $rank(M_{ij}) \ge 1$ and F(u) is a non-constant, otherwise

arbitrary, function of u. The recurrence one-form is $\sigma = -\frac{\dot{F}(u)}{F(u)}du$ with $\dot{F}(u) := dF$

Observe that this theorem shows that there are no proper recurrent Riemannian manifolds, in accordance with Theorem 6.

Notice that from Lemma 3, for a proper *r*th-recurrent space $(r \ge 2) t^{(r)}$ is always symmetric in its last two indices.

Proposition 8 [32] *If* (*M*, *g*) *is proper rth-order recurrent, including rth-order symmetric, with* $r \ge 2$ *then it is* $\frac{1}{2p}$ *-symmetric for* p = r/2 *if* r *is even, and* p = (r+1)/2 *if it is odd.*

Proof If the manifold is *r*t*h*-symmetric the proof follows immediately for p = r/2 if *r* is even, and p = (r+1)/2 if it is odd. Suppose then that the manifold is *r*t*h*-recurrent. If *r* is an even number, take p = r/2. The condition for $\frac{1}{2n}$ -symmetry given is then

$$\nabla_{[\lambda_1} \nabla_{\lambda_2]} \dots \nabla_{[\lambda_{r-1}} \nabla_{\lambda_r]} R^{\alpha}_{\beta \lambda \mu} = 0$$

and as the manifold is r-recurrent this equation is equivalent to

$$t_{[\lambda_1\lambda_2]\dots[\lambda_{r-1}\lambda_r]}R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu}=0,$$

which is trivially satisfied for *rth*-recurrent manifolds by Lemma 3. If *r* is odd, then take $p = \frac{r+1}{2}$ to obtain that the condition for $\frac{1}{2n}$ -symmetry reads

$$\nabla_{[\lambda_1} \nabla_{\lambda_2]} \dots \nabla_{[\lambda_r} \nabla_{\lambda_{r+1}]} R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = 0$$

which is rewritten by *rth*-recurrence as

$$\nabla_{[\lambda_1} t_{\lambda_2]\dots[\lambda_r\lambda_{r+1}]} R_{\alpha\beta\lambda\mu} = 0,$$

which is again trivially satisfied due to Lemma 3.

Corollary 6 There are neither rth-order recurrent nor r-symmetric semi-Riemannian manifolds of type I_{ϵ} .

Proof This follows from Proposition 8 and Theorem 3.

There is no formal classification of rth-order recurrent spaces with $r \ge 2$. Thompson [59] proved that if a manifold is proper 2nd-order recurrent and conformally flat (which implies that the scalar curvature is zero due to Chowdhury [19]), then it is recurrent. In [62], he proved that if the scalar curvature is not zero, and a proper 2nd-recurrent manifold is either 3-dimensional, 4-dimensional and Lorentzian, or its Ricci tensor is definite, then it is recurrent. Also, he proved in [60] and [61] that a 4-dimensional proper 2nd-order recurrent Lorentzian manifold is complex-recurrent. With all this information at hand, in 1972 together with McLenaghan they proved that:

Proposition 9 [36] A proper 2nd-order recurrent Lorentzian manifold of dimension 4 is non-corformally flat with vanishing scalar curvature, and there exist coordinates $\{u, v, x, y\}$ such that the metric takes the form:

$$g = 2du (dv + H(u, x, y)du) + dx^{2} + dy^{2},$$

where ∂_v is a parallel lightlike vector field,

$$H(u, x, y) = h(u)(x^{2} + y^{2}) + 2f(u) \left[\cos(\beta(u))(x^{2} - y^{2}) - 2\sin(\beta(u))xy \right],$$

with f(u) an arbitrary function and $\beta(u)$ and h(u) satisfying the equations

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\beta} = \kappa/f^2, & \kappa \in \mathbb{R} \\ \ddot{h} - h/f(\ddot{f} - \kappa^2/f^3) = 0. \end{cases}$$

The manifold is Ricci-flat if and only if h = 0, and it is recurrent if and only if $\dot{\beta}(u) = \kappa = 0$ and $h = \lambda f$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$.

Again, these spaces belong to the model family of Theorem 5. In this case, the relation between the metric in Proposition 9 and that of Theorem 5 is given by

$$A_{xx}(u) = h(u) + 2f(u)\cos(\beta(u)), A_{yy}(u) = h(u) - 2f(u)\cos(\beta(u)), A_{xy}(u) = A_{yx}(u) = -4f(u)\sin(\beta(u))$$

Using the equations in Proposition 9 that relate f(u), h(u) and $\beta(u)$ it can be proven that the above functions $A_{ij}(u)$ do satisfy the conditions given in Theorem 5 for n = 4 and (p + 1, q + 1) = (1, 3), with

$$t^{(2)} = \left(\frac{\ddot{f}}{f} - \frac{\kappa^2}{f^4}\right) du \otimes du.$$

In the solution given in Proposition 9 there are an arbitrary function f(u) and four arbitrary constants, κ and the ones obtained after solving the equations for the functions β and h. However, f(u) and κ define the tensor field $t^{(2)}$ in the equation of second recurrence, and then only the sign of κ matters because, if $\kappa \neq 0$, by taking $\overline{f}(u) =$

 $\frac{f}{\sqrt{|\kappa|}}$, the constant κ becomes equal to ± 1 . Thus, there are 3 essential parameters plus one sign in the solution. On the other hand, in the model family of solutions of Theorem 5, since n = 4 and r = 2 there would be a priori 6 arbitrary parameters in the metric. This apparent conflict can be easily resolved by performing an appropriate change of coordinates that preserves the form of the metric in Theorem 5—see for instance Claim 5.20 in [7] or [8]—which allows to remove two of these constants.

Passing now to the cases of *r*-symmetry for $r \ge 1$, the full classification of the Lorentzian symmetric spaces is known.

Theorem 8 [11] Any simply-connected Lorentzian symmetric space (M, g) is isometric to the product of a simply-connected Riemannian symmetric space and one of the following Lorentzian manifolds:

- (a) $(\mathbb{R}, -dt^2)$
- (b) the universal cover of d-dimensional de Sitter or anti-de Sitter spaces, $d \ge 2$,
- (c) a metric of \mathcal{KS}_n type in the model family of Theorem 5 with all A_{ij} constant and $\eta_{ij} = \delta_{ij}$, the Kronecker delta.

The d-dimensional Lorentizan manifolds with the metric of (c) are sometimes called Cahen-Wallach spaces and denoted by CW^d (observe that $CW^2 = \mathbb{L}^2$ is just the twodimensional Minkowski space, as A_{ij} necessarily vanish). Therefore, if a Lorentzian symmetric space admits a parallel lightlike vector field, then it is locally isometric to the product of a d-dimensional Cahen-Wallach space and an (n - d)-dimensional Riemannian symmetric space with $d \ge 2$.

Locally symmetric spaces of signatures other than positive definite and Lorentzian are not so well understood. Important advances can be found in [12, 18, 33, 34] and references therein.

In the case of *rth*-order symmetric spaces some progress has been made in this century for r = 2, 3 in the Lorentzian case. For r = 2, in [49] it was proven that such spaces admit a lightlike parallel vector field, and latter in [6, 7] the global classification was given. The local classification was also given in [1] using Lorentzian holonomy techniques [27]. Some years later 3rd-order Lorentzian symmetric spaces were also locally classified in [28] using the same techniques as in [1]. The following theorem combines all these results

Theorem 9 [1, 7, 28] *Letting aside obvious locally-symmetric extensions, for* n > 2 *any proper 2nd-order or 3rd-order symmetric Lorentzian manifold:*

- (a) is not reducible;
- (b) possesses a parallel lightlike one-form ω : $\nabla \omega = 0$;
- (c) belongs to the \mathcal{KS}_n model family of Theorem 5 with $\omega = du$, $\eta_{ij} = \delta_{ij}$,

$$A_{ij}(u) = D_{ij}u^2 + B_{ij}u + C_{ij}$$

with D_{ij} , B_{ij} , $C_{ij} \in \mathbb{R}$ and $rank(D_{ij}) \ge 1$ for 3-symmetry, while $D_{ij} = 0$ and $rank(B_{ij}) \ge 1$ for 2-symmetry.

The global result is

Theorem 10 [7, 28] Any geodesically complete and simply connected proper 2nd- or 3rd-order symmetric Lorentzian manifold is globally isometric to a direct product of a non-flat Riemannian symmetric space and the 2- or 3-symmetric Lorentizan manifolds of Theorem 9.

It is clear that the model families in Theorem 5 with $A_{ij}(u)$ polynomials of order r-1 are r-symmetric for any $r \in \mathbb{N}$. However, there is no proof that these exhaust the entire family for $r \ge 4$. According to [28], Lorentzian holonomy techniques [27] are no longer usable for this purpose if $r \ge 4$, hence, the main line to be pursued is to try and prove that, for any r, there is a parallel lightlike one-form.

A question that springs to mind is whether or not a \mathcal{KS}_n space can satisfy more than one relation of type (1). This can be answered in the affirmative by the following result.

Corollary 7 Letting aside obvious flat extensions, a Lorentzian manifold (M, g) of dimension n > 2 that satisfies both the recurrent condition and the kth-order symmetric condition on the curvature for k = 2, 3 is given by the solutions of Theorem 7 with F(u) a polynomial of degree k - 1 with leading coefficient $a_{k-1} = 1$.

Proof If (M, g) is Lorentzian and recurrent, it has a parallel one-form ω (Theorem 7). If it is also *k*-symmetric, $k \in \{2, 3\}$, it also possesses a parallel one-form $\tilde{\omega}$ (Theorem 9). Hence, the first thing one needs to prove is that these two parallel directions coincide. Suppose, on the contrary, that they are linearly independent. Then, they would span a 2-dimensional subspace of parallel one-forms, with signature necessarily Lorentzian, implying the existence of a parallel timelike one-form U (and also a parallel spacelike one-form). This would imply that (M, g) is decomposable as $(M_1 \times M_2, g_1 \oplus g_2)$, with $g_1 = \frac{1}{g(U, U)} U \otimes U$ and g_2 a Riemannian metric. Since (M, g) is both recurrent and *kth*-symmetric for k = 2, 3, so would be (M_2, g_2) , and since (M_2, g_2) is Riemannian, (M, g) would be locally symmetric by Theorem 6. In conclusion, if a Lorentzian manifold is proper recurrent and proper *kth*-symmetric for k = 2, 3, the parallel oneforms ω and $\tilde{\omega}$ must be proportional—and can be chosen to be the same. Once this is established, the result follows at once from Theorems 7 and 9.

For general *rth*-order symmetric semi-Riemannian manifolds one can prove the following interesting intermediate result

Proposition 10 Let (M, g) be an irreducible rth-order symmetric non-flat semi-Riemannian manifold. Then either

- (*i*) there exist a parallel lightlike vector field and $g\left(\nabla^{r-1}R, \nabla^{r-1}R\right) = 0$, or
- (*ii*) $g\left(\nabla^{r-2}R, \nabla^{r-2}R\right)$ =constant.

Proof Applying Lemma 9 in Appendix C to T = R, one sees that case (*i*) in that Lemma is not possible due to Proposition 1. The result then follows immediately from cases (*ii*) and (*iii*) in Lemma 9.

The importance of this result lies in the fact that, if case (i) in Proposition 10 holds, then a Lorentzian *r*-symmetric (M, g) will be a Brinkmann manifold [7, 10], and then

using calculations such as in [1, 6, 7, 28] one may try to prove that such manifolds belong to the model family of Theorem 5.

Strong results can also be obtained if there are generic points (Appendix A) in the manifold. For instance

Theorem 11 [49] At generic points, all semi-symmetric semi-Riemannian manifolds are of constant curvature.

And taking into account the results in Appendix C one obtains

Proposition 11 If a rth-order recurrent or a rth-order symmetric semi-Riemmanian manifold (M, g) has a generic point, then it is locally symmetric. In other words, a (proper) rth-symmetric space has no generic points.

This proposition follows from Corollary 5 and Theorem 15 by taking T = R in Theorem 15. Therefore, since locally symmetric spaces are semi-symmetric, from Propositions 11 and Theorem 11 one concludes that:

Theorem 12 At generic points, all rth-order recurrent and all rth-order symmetric semi-Riemannian manifolds are actually of constant curvature.

The full classification of semi-symmetric 4-dimensional Lorentzian manifolds can be found in [2, 24].

5 Relevance in physics

The physics of the gravitational field is described on Lorentzian manifolds, also called *spacetimes*. Actually, the gravitational field itself corresponds to the curvature of the spacetime. Therefore, results concerning \mathcal{KS}_n Lorentzian manifolds have undoubtedly relevance for many branches of gravitational physics. A long list of applications was detailed in the Introduction of [49]. They were listed for 2nd-order symmetric spacetimes, but they remain valid, *mutatis mutandis*, for the general class of \mathcal{KS}_n Lorentzian manifolds. Thus, \mathcal{KS}_n spacetimes may have some applications in (see [49] and references therein)

- building conserved quantities of the gravitational field depending on higher-order derivatives of the curvature, via for instance the so-called 'super-energy' tensors [48];
- simplifying the expansions in Riemann normal coordinates, if these are useful;
- the regularization of quantum fluctuations via curvature counter-terms;
- the study of 'Penrose limits';
- as solutions of higher-order Lagrangian theories, in particular in some supergravity theories, string theory, and their relatives. Gauss–Bonnet gravity theories are of particular relevance in this case.

I would like to comment further in the last two points. Let me start with the case of Gauss–Bonnet gravity, see the review [26] and references therein. These are theories where the Lagrangian density contains not only the Einstein-Hilbert term S, but also

an additional term proportional to the Gauss–Bonnet invariant *G* defined in (15). This additional term is relevant for dimension n > 4, as it provides field equations different from the Einstein equations but still of second-order and with two degrees of freedom. If the dimension is n = 4, the integral of *G* is a topological invariant—it equals the Euler characteristic of the manifold—and thus its contribution to the field equations vanishes upon extremization. As shown in Corollary 1 (*a*), the Gauss–Bonnet scalar vanishes for all \mathcal{KS}_n spaces in any dimension, except possibly for type 0, if this exception happens to exist at all. Therefore, the \mathcal{KS}_n spaces seem to be solutions of any Gauss–Bonnet extension of General Relativity in arbitrary dimension.

With regard the other point, let me first of all recall that the spacetimes in the model family of Theorem 5, in the Lorentizan case (so that $\eta_{ij} = \delta_{ij}$) are called *plane-wave spacetimes*, or simply plane waves, in the physics literature [8, 22]. They are geodesically complete [13] for good-behaved $A_{ij}(u)$.

Theorem 13 (Every Lorentzian (M, g) has a "Penrose limit") [42] To every Lorentzian (M, g) and choice of a null geodesic γ one can associate a unique plane-wave spacetime (i.e., one of the models in Theorem 5) called its "Penrose limit" on γ .

The original construction [42] of the Penrose limit amounts to selecting appropriate local coordinates adapted to the chosen null geodesic, performing a re-scaling with a parameter λ and then taking the limit $\lambda \rightarrow 0$. This is why they are called 'limits' in the first place. Penrose limits retain the information about geodesic deviation of the original spacetime along the chosen null geodesic γ , and nothing more. However, they can be determined in a covariant way without taking any limit, see [8] and references therein: just compute the geodesic deviation (in orthogonal directions) along the selected null geodesic in the original space-time and this is identical to the null geodesic deviation in the corresponding Penrose limit plane wave metric. Such deviation is characterized by the symmetric $A_{ij}(u)$ in Theorem 5, where *u* plays the role of parameter along the null geodesic on the original spacetime. [8]

This shows the information about the original metric that the Penrose limit encodes is precisely that of geodesic deviation along the selected null geodesic: in other words, it gives the curvature properties around the null geodesic to first non-trivial order—in analogy with what Riemannian normal coordinates do at any given point [9]. Furthermore, when approaching any spacetime singularity—the edge of incomplete geodesics [3, 52]—the Penrose limits acquire some scale-invariant properties and have a universal power-law behaviour related to the growth of the curvature in the original (M, g)[8].

An obvious question is what properties of the original spacetime, if any, are preserved in its plane-wave Penrose limit. The study of the properties preserved if one considers a one-parameter family of space-times and takes some limit on the defining parameter was curried out long ago by Geroch [29]. He defined a property shared by the entire one-parameter family of spacetimes *hereditary* if all the limits of this family also have this property. Following this idea, Blau [8] states that a property of a Lorentzian manifold (M, g) is hereditary if *all* its Penrose limits also have this property.

Any tensor field concomitant of the curvature—that is, any tensor field constructed from R, its derivatives, the metric and its inverse—that vanishes is hereditary [29]. For

instance, every Penrose limit of de Sitter and anti-de Sitter spacetimes, for arbitrary null geodesics, is a flat space-time. One can conjecture that, conversely, if a space-time has all of its Penrose limits flat, then it must be of constant curvature. In general <u>trace</u> properties of the Riemann tensor are lost in the limits. For instance, Einstein spaces have Ricci-flat Penrose limits—as all plane waves have vanishing scalar curvature. Using Geroch's ideas it seems somehow obvious to claim

Every \mathcal{KS}_n proper of order *r* Lorentzian (*M*, *g*) has as its *universal* Penrose limits the plane-wave models of Theorem 5 satisfying an appropriate homogeneous ODE (42) of order *r*—including a flat space-time as a particular sub-possibility.

The question is now to ascertain how much "room" is left between the planewave models of Theorem 5, which are the Penrose limits, and the general Lorentzian manifolds of type \mathcal{KS}_n .

6 Discussion: open questions and conjectures

From the long list of results herein presented there are some facts that catch one's eye. The two most obvious, and probably more relevant, ones are

- the absence of non-locally-symmetric Riemannian \mathcal{KS}_n manifolds
- the existence of a parallel lightlike vector field in all known examples, in particular in the model family of Theorem 5

This leads to the first open question

Open Question 1 (Riemannian manifolds in the new family?) Are there any \mathcal{KS}_n Riemannian manifolds other than the locally symmetric ones?

All known partial results answer this question in the negative. Thus, Theorem 6 forbids the existence of proper recurrent, proper rth-symmetric, and proper 2nd-order recurrent Riemannian spaces. Furthermore, Proposition 4 ensures that no Riemannian \mathcal{KS}_n Einstein space with non-empty \mathcal{L} exists. The existence of generic points also leads to the absence of proper *r*-recurrent \mathcal{KS}_n due to Theorem 12. And, of course, the model family of Theorem 5 does include all signatures except the Riemannian one. This leads to my first conjecture.

Conjecture 1 There are no Riemannian \mathcal{KS}_n manifolds of any order *r*, apart from the locally symmetric spaces.

Notice that the combination of Theorem 1 and Theorem 6 implies that, in dealing with this conjecture, only irreducible manifolds must be studied due to the de Rham decomposition [43].

On the other hand, all known (non-locally symmetric) examples of proper \mathcal{KS}_n manifolds belong to the model family of Theorem 5, which raises the second open question

Open Question 2 (Do the models in Theorem 5 exhaust the \mathcal{KS}_n spaces?) Are there any \mathcal{KS}_n semi-Riemannian manifolds other than the explicit models of Theorem 5 and the locally symmetric ones?

Note that the explicit model family in Theorem 5 has a parallel null vector field. Thus, a second conjecture emerges.

Conjecture 2 If (M, g) is a non-locally symmetric \mathcal{KS}_n semi-Riemannian manifold then it admits a parallel lightlike vector field.

Again, all known partial results support this conjecture. Generally the model family in Theorem 5, but also Theorem 7 for the recurrent case, Theorem 9 for 2*nd*- and 3*rd*-order symmetry, as well as Proposition 9 for 2*nd*-order recurrent Lorentzian 4-dimensional manifolds and the partial result in Proposition 10 for general *rth*-order symmetry.

It would be very important to settle Conjecture 2. In the Lorentzian case, and if the conjecture holds, then one can restrict the study to the Brinkmann metrics [7, 10] and the analysis would be much simplified. Furthermore, if Conjecture 2 is resolved in the affirmative, then Conjecture 1 will be immediately true.

The validity of Conjecture 2 would probably lead to a negative answer for the Open Question 2, and in that case one can formulate the more ambitious speculation.

Conjecture 3 All \mathcal{KS}_n semi-Riemannian manifolds are contained in the family of Theorem 5. In particular, for the Lorentzian case, they coincide with their own Penrose limits built with respect to the null geodesics tangent to the parallel vector field.

If anyone wishes to attack the previous open problems by steps, the simplest unresolved case is that of proper 2nd-order recurrent semi-Riemannian spaces. All partial known results are in agreement with the conjecture, as detailed next

Proposition 12 (2nd-order recurrent case: known results) [20, 36, 60, 61] Let (M, g) be a proper 2nd-order recurrent n-dimensional semi-Riemannian manifold, then

- 1. if it is also conformally flat, it is actually recurrent
- 2. if the scalar curvature does not vanish and
 - $R_{\mu\nu}$ is definite, then it is actually recurrent
 - g is Lorentzian, then it is actually recurrent
- 3. if n = 4 and g is Lorentzian, then the only solutions are the explicit plane wave models shown in Theorem 5

Recall that the recurrent case is fully resolved and the solutions, given in Theorem 7, do belong to the model family of Theorem 5. All in all, it seems that this case might not be too difficult to settle. Another important partial unresolved problem is that of Lorentizan *r*-symmetry for $r \ge 4$.

Appendices

In this section classical methods related to this type of problems are explained and known results presented. These methods could be helpful in the study of the properties of the new family of \mathcal{KS}_n semi-Riemannian manifolds—those satisfying (1).

A Generic points

Let (M, g) be a semi-Riemannian manifold. Consider the curvature endomorphism on the space of two-forms (see, for example, [40]):

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R} &: \Lambda^2 M \longrightarrow \Lambda^2 M \\ \Omega &\mapsto R(\Omega) \end{aligned}$$

defined by

$$R(\Omega)_{\lambda\mu} := R^{\alpha\beta}{}_{\lambda\mu}\Omega_{\alpha\beta}.$$

Definition 7 A point $x \in M$ in a semi-Riemannian manifold (M, g) is generic if the curvature endomorphism at x is an isomorphism, that is to say, if $\mathcal{R}|_x$ is non-singular and has an inverse.

Let $x \in M$ be a generic point. Then, there exists the inverse endomorphism $\mathcal{R}_{|x|}^{-1}$ of $\mathcal{R}|_x$ —denoted in abstract index form by $(R_{|x}^{-1})^{\alpha\beta}_{\lambda\mu}$ —at the point x. In fact, by the smoothness of R, the inverse \mathcal{R}^{-1} is defined in some neighbourhood U_x of x. This endomorphism satisfies:

$$R_{|y}{}^{\alpha\beta}{}_{\rho\sigma}(R^{-1}_{|y}){}^{\rho\sigma}{}_{\lambda\mu} = \frac{1}{2}\delta^{\alpha\beta}_{\lambda\mu} := \frac{1}{2}(\delta^{\alpha}_{\lambda}\delta^{\beta}_{\mu} - \delta^{\alpha}_{\mu}\delta^{\beta}_{\lambda}), \quad \forall y \in U_x$$
(43)

where $\delta_{\lambda\mu}^{\alpha\beta}$ is the generalized Kronecker delta.

B Homothetic vector fields that are gradients

In this appendix vector fields X that satisfy $\nabla X = c1$, with $c \in \mathbb{R}$, are studied. They are of particular interest because, on the one hand they are homothetic so that $\pounds_X R = 0$ and, on the other hand, they arise naturally is semi-Riemannian manifolds that contain a second-order parallel tensor field T ($\nabla \nabla T = 0$), see next Appendix C. Observe that if c = 0 then X is a parallel vector field. Therefore, if c = 0 either there is a parallel lightlike vector field or (M, g) is non-degenerately reducible (or decomposable), and the metric decomposes into $g = \frac{1}{g(X, X)} \overset{X}{\smile} \overset{X}{\smile} \overset{X}{\smile} + (g - \frac{1}{g(X, X)} \overset{X}{\smile} \overset{X}{\smile} \overset{X}{\smile}).$

Consider then the case when $c \neq 0$.

Lemma 7 Let (M, g) be a semi-Riemannian manifold and X a vector field such that

$$\nabla X = c\mathbb{1} \tag{44}$$

for some $c \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. Then:

- (a) g(X, X) is not constant. In particular, X is not lightlike.
- (b) X is a closed one-form.
- (c) \check{X} is homothetic.
- (d) $\nabla \nabla T(X, Y) = \nabla \nabla T(Y, X)$, for any tensor field T and any vector field Y, where $\nabla \nabla T(X, Y) := \nabla_X (\nabla_Y T) \nabla_{\nabla_X Y} T$.
- **Proof** (a) If g(X, X) =constant, by taking the covariant derivative here and using (44) one would get 2cX = 0 and, as $c \neq 0$, this is impossible due to (44).
- (b) Usign the covariant version of (44) (that is, $\nabla X = cg$), one has $(dX)_{\alpha\beta} = \nabla_{[\alpha}X_{\beta]} = cg_{[\alpha\beta]} = 0$.
- (c) Since $\nabla X = cg$, if \pounds_X denotes the Lie derivative with respect to X one has that $\pounds_X g(Y, Z) = \nabla X(Y, Z) + \nabla X(Z, Y) = 2cg(Y, Z)$ for all vector fields Y, Z.
- (d) Since $\nabla X = cg$ one gets that $\overleftarrow{\nabla} \nabla X = 0$ which implies via the Ricci identity

$$X_{\rho}R^{\rho}_{\ \beta\lambda\mu} = 0. \tag{45}$$

Inserting this in the expression of $X^{\rho} \nabla_{[\rho} \nabla_{\beta]} T$ via the Ricci identity for any tensor field *T*, one readily gets that $X^{\rho} \nabla_{[\rho} \nabla_{\beta]} T = 0$ and the assertion follows.

As is well known, X being homothetic it leaves the connection and the curvature invariant

$$\pounds_X \nabla = 0, \qquad \quad \pounds_X R = 0.$$

Lemma 8 Let (M, g) be a semi-Riemannian manifold and X a vector field that satisfies (44) for some $c \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$. Then,

$$\nabla_X R + 2cR = 0,$$

$$\nabla_X \nabla^r R + c(r+2) \nabla^r R = 0, \quad \forall r \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Proof Writing $\mathcal{L}_X R = 0$ in abstract index notation:

$$X^{\rho}(\nabla_{\rho}R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\lambda\mu}) - (\nabla_{\rho}X_{\alpha})R^{\rho}{}_{\beta\lambda\mu} + (\nabla_{\beta}X^{\rho})R^{\alpha}{}_{\rho\lambda\mu} + (\nabla_{\lambda}X^{\rho})R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\rho\mu} + (\nabla_{\mu}X^{\rho})R^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\lambda\rho} = 0$$

and using here (44) one derives

$$X^{\rho}(\nabla_{\rho}R^{\alpha}_{\beta\lambda\mu}) + 2cR^{\alpha}_{\beta\lambda\mu} = 0.$$

Covariantly differentiating this expression and using (44) again

$$X^{\rho}(\nabla_{\sigma}\nabla_{\rho}R^{\alpha}_{\beta\lambda\mu}) + 3c\nabla_{\sigma}R^{\alpha}_{\beta\lambda\mu} = 0$$

and using now the property in Lemma 7, item (d), the previous expression becomes

$$X^{\rho}(\nabla_{\rho}\nabla_{\sigma}R^{\alpha}_{\beta\lambda\mu}) + 3c\nabla_{\sigma}R^{\alpha}_{\beta\lambda\mu} = 0.$$

And so on.

C Semi-Riemannian manifolds with a tensor field T such that $\nabla^r T = 0$

In this appendix the question of when there can be tensor fields T with a vanishing rth-order covariant derivative is tackled. Apart from its intrinsic interest, this has obvious applications to the case of rth-order symmetric semi-Riemannian manifolds, but it has also relevance because the existence of such T implies the existence of homothetic vector fields satisfying (44).

Lemma 9 [50, 51, 58] If an irreducible semi-Riemannian manifold (M, g) carries a non-zero tensor field T that satifies $\nabla^2 T = 0$, then $X := \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{grad}(g(T, T))$ either

- (i) is a vector field that satisfies (44) with $c \neq 0$, or
- (ii) is a parallel lightlike vector field and $g(\nabla T, \nabla T) = 0$, or
- (iii) vanishes and g(T, T) = constant.

Proof Define the function f as half the total contraction of T with itself

$$f := \frac{1}{2}g(T, T)$$

and set $X := \operatorname{grad} f$. Due to the assumption $\nabla^2 T = 0$ one has for all vector fields Y, Z

$$\operatorname{Hess} f(Y, Z) = g(\nabla_Y T, \nabla_Z T)$$

and also

$$\nabla \text{Hess} f = 0.$$

Hence, Hess *f* is a 2-covariant symmetric parallel tensor field. Since (M, g) is irreducible a classical theorem due to Eisenhart [23] implies that Hess f = cg for some constant *c* so that (44) holds. If $c \neq 0$ then case (*i*) follows. If c = 0 then $\nabla X = 0$ and *X* is parallel and necessarily null due to irreducibility, or zero. The former case is (*ii*) and the latter is (*iii*).

The classical result for positive definite metrics can then be easily deduced from this Lemma.

Theorem 14 Let (M, g) be a Riemannian manifold with a tensor field T that satisfies $\nabla^r T = 0$. If either

(1) [38] (M, g) is complete and irreducible
(2) [58] T is any of Riemann, Ricci or Weyl tensors,

then $\nabla T = 0$.

Proof It is enough to prove the result for r = 2. To prove (1), notice that either (*i*) or (*iii*) in Lemma 9 hold. But if an irreducible Riemannian manifold is complete, all homothetic vector fields are in fact Killing vector fields, and thus only (*iii*) is possible and $\nabla T = 0$.

To prove (2), due to the de Rham decomposition theorem [43] irreducibility can be assumed and *T*—which is either *R*, *Ric* or *C*—vanishes in the flat part of the de Rham decomposition. Again from Lemma 9 $\nabla X = c\mathbb{1}$ and, if $c \neq 0$, the formulas in Lemma 8 hold. In particular $\nabla_X \nabla R = 0 = -3cR$ so that R = 0. Similarly for *Ric* or *C*. If on the other hand c = 0, then (*iii*) in Lemma 9 applies and the result also follows.

As noticed by Sánchez [47], for irreducible Riemannian (M, g) the only possibility left open for having $\nabla^2 T = 0$ without $\nabla T = 0$ is when the manifold is incomplete and has a proper (non-Killing) homothetic vector field of type (44).

One can however prove a fully general theorem if there is at least one generic point in the manifold.

Theorem 15 ([49]) If a semi-Riemmanian manifold (M, g) has a generic point $x \in M$ and a tensor field T on the manifold that satisfies $\nabla^r T = 0$, then $\nabla T = 0$ everywhere.

Proof It is enough to prove this for r = 2: $\nabla_{\lambda} \nabla_{\mu} T_{\alpha_1...\alpha_q} = 0$. From the Ricci Identity applied to $\nabla_{[\lambda} \nabla_{\mu]} T_{\alpha_1...\alpha_q} = 0$ the relation

$$\sum_{i=1}^{q} R^{\rho}{}_{\alpha_i\lambda\mu} T_{\alpha_1\dots\alpha_{i-1}\rho\alpha_{i+1}\dots\alpha_q} = 0$$
(46)

follows. Multiplying by the inverse \mathcal{R}^{-1} at *x*:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{q} \left(g_{\alpha_{i}\lambda} T_{\alpha_{1}\dots\alpha_{i-1}\mu\alpha_{i+1}\dots\alpha_{q}} - g_{\alpha_{i}\mu} T_{\alpha_{1}\dots\alpha_{i-1}\lambda\alpha_{i+1}\dots\alpha_{q}} \right) \bigg|_{x} = 0$$

Differentiating (46), then multiplying by \mathcal{R}^{-1} and using this last expression one also gets at *x*

$$\sum_{i=1}^{q} \left(g_{\alpha_{i}\lambda} \nabla_{\nu} T_{\alpha_{1}...\alpha_{i-1}\mu\alpha_{i+1}...\alpha_{q}} - g_{\alpha_{i}\mu} \nabla_{\nu} T_{\alpha_{1}...\alpha_{i-1}\lambda\alpha_{i+1}...\alpha_{q}} \right) \bigg|_{x} = 0.$$

The identity $\nabla_{[\lambda} \nabla_{\mu]} \nabla_{\nu} T_{\alpha_1 \dots \alpha_q} = 0$ provides analogously

$$g_{\nu\lambda}\nabla_{\mu}T_{\alpha_{1}...\alpha_{q}} - g_{\nu\mu}\nabla_{\lambda}T_{\alpha_{1}...\alpha_{q}} + \sum_{i=1}^{q} \left(g_{\alpha_{i}\lambda}\nabla_{\nu}T_{\alpha_{1}...\alpha_{i-1}\mu\alpha_{i+1}...\alpha_{q}} - g_{\alpha_{i}\mu}\nabla_{\nu}T_{\alpha_{1}...\alpha_{i-1}\lambda\alpha_{i+1}...\alpha_{q}} \right) \bigg|_{x} = 0.$$

Substracting the last two expressions one obtains

$$g_{\nu\lambda}\nabla_{\mu}T_{\alpha_1\dots\alpha_q} - g_{\nu\mu}\nabla_{\lambda}T_{\alpha_1\dots\alpha_q}\big|_{x} = 0.$$

Contracting here ν and λ one derives $\nabla_{\mu} T_{\alpha_1...\alpha_q}|_x = 0$. Finally, as ∇T is parallel then $\nabla T = 0$ on the entire M.

Acknowledgements I am grateful to S. Galaev for bringing ref. [32] to my attention and for comments on the manuscript, to M. Sánchez for many suggestions and helpful comments, and to M. Blau for some clarifications concerning Penrose limits. Work supported by Basque Government grant IT1628-22, and by Grant PID2021-123226NB-I00 funded by the Spanish MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033 together with "ERDF A way of making Europe".

Funding Open Access funding provided thanks to the CRUE-CSIC agreement with Springer Nature.

Declarations

Conflict of interest I declare that I have no conflict of interest.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Alekseevsky, D.V., Galaev, A.S.: Two-symmetric Lorentzian manifolds. J. Geom. Phys. 61(12), 2331– 2340 (2011)
- Åman, J.E.: Investigation of all Ricci semi-symmetric and all conformally semi-symmetric spacetimes. J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 314, 012020 (2011)
- Beem, J.K., Ehrlich, P.E., Easley, K.W.: Global Lorentzian Geometry. Chapman & Hall/CRC Pure and Applied Mathematics. CRC Pres (1996)
- Blanco, O.F.: Brinkmann and Lorentzian second-order symmetric spaces. Ph.D. Thesis, Universidad de Granada (UGR) (2013)
- Blanco, O.F., Sánchez, M., Senovilla, J.M.M.: Complete classification of second-order symmetric spacetimes. J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 229, 012021 (2010)
- Blanco, O.F., Sánchez, M., Senovilla, J.M.M.: Second-order symmetric Lorentzian manifolds II: structure and global properties. J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 314, 012021 (2011)
- Blanco, O.F., Sánchez, M., Senovilla, J.M.M.: Structure of second-order symmetric Lorentzian manifolds. J. Eur. Math. Soc. 15, 595–634 (2013)
- Blau, M.: Plane Waves and Penrose Limits, Lecture Notes for the ICTP School on Mathematics in String and Field Theory, 2003 (2011). Available at http://www.blau.itp.unibe.ch/lecturesPP.pdf
- 9. Blau, M., Frank, D., Weiss, S.: Fermi coordinates and Penrose limits class. Quantum Gravit. 23, 3993 (2006)
- Brinkmann, H.W.: Einstein spaces which are mapped conformally on each other. Math. Ann. 94, 119–145 (1925)
- 11. Cahen, M., Wallach, N.: Lorentzian symmetric spaces. Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 76, 585-591 (1970)
- Cahen, M., Parker, M.: Pseudo-Riemannian symmetric spaces Mem. Am. Math. Soc. 24 (1980) no.229, iv+108

- Candela, A.M., Flores, J.L., Sánchez, M.: On general plane fronted waves. Geod. General Relat. Gravit. 35(4), 631–649 (2003)
- 14. Cartan, E.: Sur une classe remarquable d'espaces de Riemann. Bull. Soc. Math. Fr. 54, 214–264 (1926)
- Cartan, E.: Sur une classe remarquable d'espaces de Riemann II. Bull. Soc. Math. Fr. 55, 114–134 (1927)
- Cartan, E.: Les systèmes différentiels extérieurs et leurs applications géométriques, Actualités Sci. Ind., no. 994, Hermann et Cie., Paris (1945)
- 17. Cartan, E.: Leons sur la Géométrie de sEspaces de Riemann, 2nd edn. Gauthier-Villars, Paris (1946)
- Černý, J., Kowalski, O.: Classification of generalized symmetric pseudo-Riemannian spaces of dimension n ≤ 4. Tensor (N.S.) 38, 255–267 (1982)
- Chowdhury, A.R.: Some theorems on recurrent spaces of second order. Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci. 15, 171–176 (1967)
- Collinson, C.D., Söler, F.: Second order conformally recurrent and birecurrent plane fronted waves. Tensor (N.S.) 27, 37–40 (1973)
- Derdzinski, A., Roter, W.: The local structure of conformally symmetric manifolds. Bull. Belg. Math. Soc. Simon Stevin 16(1), 117–128 (2009)
- Ehlers, J., Kundt, W.: Chapter 2: Exact solutions of the gravitational field equations. In: Witten, L. (ed.) Gravitation: An Introduction to Current Research, pp. 49–101. Wiley, New York (1962)
- Eisenhart, L.: P Symmetric tensors of the second order whose first covariant derivatives are zero. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 25(2), 297–306 (1923)
- Eriksson, I., Senovilla, J.M.M.: Note on (conformally) semi-symmetric spacetimes. Class. Quantum Gravity 27, 027001 (2010)
- Ewert-Krzemieniewski, S.: On the existence of certain types of Riemannian metrics. Demonstr. Math. 25(4), 851–858 (1992)
- Fernandes, P.G.S., Carrilho, P., Clifton, T., Mulryne, D.J.: The 4D Einstein–Gauss–Bonnet theory of gravity: a review class. Quantum Gravity 39, 063001 (2022)
- 27. Galaev, A.S.: Holonomy groups of Lorentzian manifolds. Russ. Math. Surv. 70(2), 249–298 (2015)
- Galaev, A.S.: Classification of third-order symmetric Lorentzian manifolds. Class. Quantum Gravity 32(2), 025001 (2015)
- 29. Geroch, R.: Limits of space-times. Commun. Math. Phys. 13(13), 180-193 (1969)
- Kaigorodov, V.R.: Riemannian spaces D_n^{*}. Structure of curvature of spaces of type A. Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Mat. 5, 117–127 (1974)
- Kaigorodov, V.R.: Structure of curvature of spaces of type B. Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Mat. 1, 104–107 (1975)
- 32. Kaigorodov, V.R.: Structure of space-time curvature. J. Sov. Math. 28(2), 256–273 (1985)
- Kath, I., Olbrich, M.: The Classification problem for pseudo-Riemannian symmetric spaces. In: Recent Developments in Pseudo-Riemannian Geometry, ESI Lectures in Mathematics and Physics, pp. 1–52. European Mathematical Society, Zürich (2008)
- Kath, I., Olbrich, M.: On the structure of pseudo-Riemannian symmetric spaces. Transform. Groups 14(4), 847–885 (2009)
- Lichnerowicz, A.: Courbure, nombres de Betti, et espaces symétriques. In: Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Cambridge, Mass, vol. 2, pp. 216–223 (1950)
- McLenaghan, R.G., Thompson, A.H.: Détermination des espaces-temps récurrents de second ordre. Acad. R. Belg. Bull. Cl. Sci. 58(5), 1099–1111 (1972)
- 37. Mogi, I.: A remark on the recurrent curvature spaces. Kodai Math. Sem. Rep. 2(4-5), 73-74 (1950)
- Nomizu, K., Ozeki, H.: A theorem on curvature tensor fields. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 48, 206–207 (1962)
- Olszak, Z.: On conformally recurrent manifolds, I: special distributions. Zesz. Nauk. Poli- tech. Śl., Mat.-Fiz 68, 213–225 (1993)
- 40. O'Neill, B.: The Geometry of Kerr Black Holes. A K Peters Ltd., Wellesley (1995)
- 41. Ortaggio, M., Pravda, V., Pravdova, A.: Algebraic classification of higher dimensional spacetimes based on null alignment class. Quantum Gravity **30**, 013001 (2013)
- Penrose, R.: Any space-time has a plane wave as a limit. In: Cahen, M., Flato, M. (eds.) Differential Geometry and Relativity. Mathematical Physics and Applied Mathematics, vol. 3. Springer, Dordrecht (1976)
- 43. de Rham, G.: Sur la reductibilité d'un espace de Riemann. Comment. Math. Helv. 26, 328-344 (1952)

- Roter, W.: A note on second order recurrent spaces. Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci. Sr. Sci. Math. Astronom. Phys. 12, 621–626 (1964)
- 45. Roter, W.: Some remarks on second order recurrent spaces. Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci. Sr. Sci. Math. Astronom. Phys. 12, 207–211 (1964)
- 46. Ruse, H.S.: On simply harmonic spaces. J. Lond. Math. Soc. s1-21(4), 243-247 (1946)
- Sánchez, M.: On the classification of Lorentzian r-th symmetric spaces. In: Lecture on Workshop on Homogenous Lorentzian spaces, Madrid, Spain (2013). Available at http://www.mat.ucm.es/geomfis/ abstracts/talks/SCaja.pdf
- 48. Senovilla, J.M.M.: Super-energy tensors. Class. Quantum Gravity 17, 2799–2841 (2000)
- 49. Senovilla, J.M.M.: Second-order symmetric Lorentzian manifolds. I. Characterization and general results. Class. Quantum Gravity **25**(24), 245011 (2008)
- Senovilla, J.M.M.: Linear differential conditions on the curvature of semi-Riemannian manifolds. In: Lecture on the workshop "IX Encuentro Andaluz de Geometría", Jaén, Spain (2012). Available online at https://ehubox.ehu.eus/s/gem9NAfLrnSP92X
- Senovilla, J.M.M.: Spacetimes with linear differential conditions on the curvature. In: Lecture on the Workshop "Current Topics in Exact Solutions," Ghent, Belgium (2014). Available online at https:// ehubox.ehu.eus/s/zmBk8RyFxReq3sc
- Senovilla, J.M.M., Garfinkle, D.: The 1965 Penrose singularity theorem. Class. Quantum Gravity 32, 124008 (2015)
- Shaikh, A.A., Patra, A.: On a generalized class of recurrent manifolds. Archivum Mathematicum (BRNO) 46, 71–78 (2010)
- Shaikh, A.A., Roy, I., Kundu, H.: On some generalized recurrent manifolds. Bull. Iran. Math. Soc. 43(5), 1209–1225 (2017)
- Shirokov, P.A.: Constant vector fields and tensor fields of 2nd order in Riemannian spaces. Izv. Fiz. Mat. O-va KGU, Ser. 2 25, 86–114 (1924)
- Szabó Z, I.: Structure theorems on Riemannian spaces satisfying R(X, Y).R = 0: I. The local version. J. Differ. Geom. 17, 531–82 (1982)
- 57. Szabó, Z.I.: Structure theorems on Riemannian spaces satisfying R(X, Y).R = 0: II. Global versions. Geom. Dedicata **19**, 65–108 (1985)
- 58. Tanno, S.: Curvature tensors and covariant derivatives. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 96, 233-341 (1973)
- Thompson, A.H.: On Conformally flat 2-recurrent Riemannian spaces. Q. J. Math. Oxford 2(20), 505–510 (1968)
- 60. Thompson, A.H.: On second order recurrent space-times. Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci. Sr. Sci. Math. Astronom. Phys. 16, 121–124 (1968)
- Thompson, A.H.: On second order recurrent space-times II. Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci. Sr. Sci. Math. Astronom. Phys. 17, 661–670 (1969)
- Thompson, A.H.: On Riemannian spaces of second-order recurrent curvature. Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci. Sr. Sci. Math. Astronom. Phys. 18, 335–340 (1970)
- 63. Walker, A.G.: On Ruse's spaces of recurrent curvature. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. s2-52(1), 36-64 (1950)
- 64. Wu, H.: On the de Rham decomposition theorem. Ill. J. Math. 8, 291–311 (1964)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.